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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks
of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high
market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that
there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the
Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents
of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy
or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of
this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”)
of Gaoyu Finance Group Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm
that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the
information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
£S5

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
"Director(s)”) of Gaoyu Finance Group Limited (the
“Company”), | hereby present to you the annual report of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).

This year has been an extraordinary one!

During this year, the economies of both Mainland China and
Hong Kong have shown a downward trend, especially the
financial markets of Hong Kong, which were facing the most
severe environment in years. However, despite challenging
market conditions, the Group, with the efforts of the Group’s
staff members, was still able to achieve a small peak of the
past few years during the Reporting Period. Compared to the
previous financial year, the turnover recorded a substantial
increase and a turnaround from loss to profit was achieved
during the Reporting Period, which was not an easy task in
such a market environment.

Given the changes in the business environment, the Group
had already started supply chain financing business as early as
2022, and recorded strong growth during the Reporting Period,
which demonstrated the demand and value of such financial
service in the market. The Group will continue to develop
supply chain financing business, and this sector will become
one of the most important businesses of the Group. In addition,
under the trend of emerging economy development, the Group
is determined to build an asset trust and management platform
that integrates elements of the emerging economy.

| have always believed that the economic and business
environment changes rapidly, with ups and downs, and there
are still huge business opportunities even in worse situations.
As such, | have great confidence that the Group will be able to
achieve robust growth amidst the storm.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my sincere gratitude to the Group's shareholders,
customers and business partners for their continuous support,
and to our management and staff members for their diligence
and contribution to the business development of the Group.

Fok Yuk Tong
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Subsequent to the passing of a special resolution in relation to
the proposed change of company name by the shareholders
of the Company at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on
7 December 2023, the Registrar of Companies in the Cayman
Islands has approved the registration of the new name of the
Company and issued the certificate of incorporation on change
of name on 7 December 2023. Hence, the English name of the
Company has been changed from “PF Group Holdings Limited”
to “Gaoyu Finance Group Limited” and the Chinese name "&
BEREBABIRAT" has been adopted as the new dual
foreign name of the Company, with effect from 7 December
2023. The certificate of registration of alteration of name of
registered non-Hong Kong company was issued by Companies
Registry in Hong Kong on 21 December 2023, certifying that
the new English name “Gaoyu Finance Group Limited” also
known as "EHEREBEABMRAF" have been registered
in Hong Kong under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of (i) securities
dealing and brokerage services (Hong Kong and US stocks);
(i) placing and underwriting services; (iii) financing services
including loan financing, securities and IPO margin financing
and money lending; (iv) asset management services; (v) supply
chain financing; (vi) trust services; and (vii) advisory and
restructuring services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB w1

Securities Dealing and Brokerage Services

The Group conducts securities dealing and brokerage services
through Gaoyu Securities Limited (formerly known as Pacific
Foundation Securities Limited) (“GSL"), the operating
subsidiary of the Company, which is a corporation licensed
to carry on Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on
securities) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"). The Group provides
securities dealing and brokerage services to customers for
trading in securities listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong and in the U.S. which comprise corporate and individual
customers. As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 288 active
securities trading accounts which have at least one trade
during the Reporting Period (31 March 2023: 239), the total
transaction value in the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$1,315,495,000 compared to the Corresponding Period
of approximately HK$602,386,000. The Group's commission
income from securities dealing and brokerage services increased
by approximately 68.0% from approximately HK$1,234,000 in
the Corresponding Period to approximately HK$2,073,000 in
the Reporting Period.

The Group has initiated a brand re-building program for its
securities dealing and brokerage business to attract new clients,
and re-engaging and reactivating its existing client base. On
26 February 2024, the Group launched a new trading system
and new smartphone applications for its licensed corporation,
which is a more user-friendly and informative online system
for customers, with foreign stock trading capacity and lower
running costs. These improvements have significantly enhanced
the trading experience, offering greater efficiency and value
to clients of the Group. Through dedicated efforts to attract
new clients and re-engage existing ones, coupled with the
improvements made to the systems and the implementation of
the mobile applications, the Group expects to see a substantial
increase in online transactions, and thus its brokerage income.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Placing and Underwriting Services

The Group conducts placing and underwriting services through
GSL. The Group acts as an underwriter or a sub-underwriter
or a placing agent or a sub-placing agent for companies listed
or to be listed on the Stock Exchange or for shareholders of
companies listed on the Stock Exchange for their fund raising
exercises such as IPOs, rights issue, open offer or placing of
new or existing shares or bonds.

Placing and underwriting fee and commission income
is principally affected by the number of engagements
participated by the Group, the size of engagements and the
commission rates. During the Reporting Period, there was
seven (Corresponding Period: three) placing and underwriting
engagements with a total transaction value of approximately
HK$72,735,000 (Corresponding Period: HK$9,899,000). The
Group's fee and commission income generated from placing
and underwriting activities was approximately HK$2,436,000 in
the Reporting Period (Corresponding Period: HK$396,000).

Other than listed companies, the Company intends to expand
its customer profile to cover non-listed companies, high net
worth clients, institutional clients, retail and corporate clients
and expand its scope of services to cover other services such as
debt placement services.

Loan Financing, Margin Financing and Money Lending
Services

Interest income from loan financing, margin financing and
money lending services mainly represents the interest income
generated from the provision of loan financing, margin
financing and money lending services for customers to
purchase securities listed on the Stock Exchange on a margin
basis, hire purchase and mortgage loan financing.

For the Reporting Period, interest income from loan financing,
margin financing and money lending services increased by
approximately 11.5% from approximately HK$8,061,000 for
the Corresponding Period to approximately HK$8,990,000. The
increase was attributable to the increase in margin loans over
the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Business model of the Group’s Money Lending
Business

The Group's money lending services are generally provided to
individual and corporate borrowers that have short-to-medium
term funding needs and could provide sufficient collaterals
for their borrowings in the form of mortgage loans (first or
second mortgage with residential or commercial properties as
collaterals) or hire purchases (vehicle financing) through an
indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Gaoyu
Finance Limited (“GFL") (formerly known as PF Finance
Limited and has officially changed the name to Gaoyu Finance
Limited on 11 January 2024). The Group may also consider
personal loans without collaterals on a case-by-case basis.
GFL is a Money Lenders Licence holder registered under the
Money Lenders Ordinance, Cap. 163 of the Laws of Hong
Kong (the “MLO"). The Group’s clientele is primarily acquired
through business referrals and introductions from the Group's
management, business partners or customers.

During the Reporting Period, the range of interest rate on
the Group’s fixed rate loans receivable was 2.75% to 13%
(Corresponding Period: 2.75% to 48%) per annum. The
Group generates interest income from such loan facility as
revenue. The Group recorded revenue from this segment
amounted to approximately HK$75,000 (Corresponding Period:
HK$681,000).

The Group’s credit risk assessment policy in respect of
its Money Lending Business

The Group's credit risk is mainly arising from its loan receivable
from customers. To monitor its credit risk, the Group sets out
the following credit policies which is documented in Credit
Policy Manual (the “Credit Policy Manual”) adopted by the
Group for its Money Lending Business.

In order to ensure adequate check and balances to prevent
undue reliance on decision of a single credit officer, the
board of directors of GFL delegates its own credit authority
to the approval committee (the “Approval Committee”),
a specialised committee established to assist any one of the
directors of GFL in overseeing the credit risk management. The
Approval Committee consists of three members, the current
composition including one of the directors of the GFL, one of
the directors of the Company and a director of other group
companies of the Group. All loans must be approved and
endorsed by any two members of the Approval Committee in
accordance with their credit approval limits for loans and the
approval guidelines as set out in the Credit Policy Manual.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The current approved credit positions of all GFL customers will
be continuously monitored and adjusted based on the latest
financial position of the customers or market conditions. In
order to protect GFL from the risk of customer’s default on
repayment, GFL will take the following preventive measures:

1. Credit Watchlist
A customer will be placed in the credit watchlist and will
be notified of such action accordingly when:

a) repayment is overdue for 7 days, or

b)  the value of the collateral dropped by 20% when
compared to the initial valuation of the collateral at
the time of credit extension, or

¢)  the customer is adversely affected by financial crisis.

A customer may be asked to provide additional collateral
in the forms acceptable by GFL in order to maintain
its established credit limit. Customers will also may be
informed of GFL's intended course of action, which could
include the request for early repayment if additional
collaterals are not furnished promptly.

2. Early Repayment
A customer that could not furnish additional collateral
will be subject to early repayment of whole or partial
outstanding amount.

3. Valuation of Collateral
To enable GFL to have up-to-date view of value of the
collateral, an updated valuation exercise will be conducted
against the whole portfolio in March each year.

As at 31 March 2024, two loans and interest receivables
remained outstanding (31 March 2023: three) with
the gross balance of approximately HK$2,199,000 (31
March 2023: HK$1,461,000). No loss allowance on loan
receivables was made for the Reporting Period (31 March
2023: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Size and diversity of customers

As at 31 March 2024, loan receivables were denominated
in Hong Kong dollars with interest rate of 10% - 13%
per annum. The loan amounts with one year period term
were lent to two independent third parties in the form of
second mortgage and unsecured personal loan. The gross
carrying amount was approximately HK$2,199,000 (2023:
HK$1,461,000). The Group's largest borrower by itself and
together with the other one (2023: two) borrower of the
Group accounted for approximately 51.71% (2023: 88.0%)
and 100% (2023: 100%) respectively of the Group’s loans
receivable of its Money Lending Business at 31 March 2024.

Since the performance and the return of the hire purchase
business have been weak, we have requested the hire purchase
clients to early settle their corresponding loans and thus we
could redirect the resources to other businesses of the Group.
As at 31 March 2024, there was one mortgage loan (second
mortgages) with terms of one year and residential properties as
collaterals, of loan principals amount of HK$1,000,000 and also
one personal loan without collateral of HK$1,000,000.

Key internal controls

The Group generally provides short-to-medium term loans. For
loans booked during the Reporting Period, in terms of number
of loan transactions, 100% was with a term within one year.
The repayment terms and conditions are determined from
the factors including the liquidity needs of the borrowers, the
Group’s funding and cash flows management strategies, and
the terms and rates of the prevailing market.

The licensing of money lenders and regulation of money-
lending transactions are governed by the MLO. The Group
has credit policies, guidelines and procedures in place which
cover key internal controls of a loan transaction including due
diligence, credit appraisal, proper execution of documentations,
continuous monitoring and collection and recovery. The
due diligence procedures included conducting research on
the borrowers’ background, evaluating its current business
operations and financial conditions, market reputation and
creditability, and conducting financial analysis and recoverability
analysis. To minimise credit or investment risks, the Group
may require personal guarantees and corporate guarantees in
respect of certain loans.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Upon completion of relevant account opening, Know-your-
client and credit assessment procedures, the Group would
grant a loan facility to such borrowers for their own financing
needs. The Group has followed all forms and procedures
prescribed under the provisions of the MLO when making
relevant application for the renewal of Money Lender License
and conducting our Money Lending Business. After drawdown
of loan, the loan agreement will be filed with the loan
documents properly. The Group maintains regular contact
with the borrowers and carries out periodical review to assess
the recovery of the loan based on the business development,
financial status, repayment ability including such as recent
settlement record and any litigations and bankruptcy orders
against borrowers. The Group will take all necessary legal
actions against the relevant borrowers to follow up the
settlement of the outstanding loans.

Asset Management Services

The Group’s fee income from asset management services
for the Reporting Period was approximately HK$440,000
(Corresponding Period: HK$ Nil).

The Group has set up three open-ended fund companies (the
"OFCs"”) to expand its asset management services business.
The Company has set an investment target for one OFC and
is currently fine-tuning the value investment strategy for
the other. For the new Capital Investment Entrant Scheme
announced by the Immigration Department of Hong Kong
government, the Company has established a department
dedicated to immigrant services and re-deployed its current
employees to this newly formed business unit. Furthermore, the
Company has brought on board skilled freelance professionals
to manage these services and undertake research.

Supply Chain Financing

The supply chain financing business operates in a similar
manner to the loan financing and margin financing business.
It utilises the 3C Products being pledged by 3C wholesalers
as collaterals to the Group, and in return, the Group provides
financing and ancillary supply chain solution services to 3C
wholesalers. The Group acts as a lender for 3C wholesalers,
providing upfront financing and placing orders on their behalf
with 3C suppliers. This supply chain service financially facilitates
3C wholesalers in their procurement of products, and enlarges
their business scale. The Group generates stable, low-risk
returns through interest income from the financing it provides.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB w1

The Group recorded interest income and service fees from
supply chain financing of approximately HK$8,430,000 for
the Reporting Period (Corresponding Period: HK$2,024,000)
The gross procurement amount of clients was approximately
HK$769,729,000 for the Reporting Period (Corresponding
Period: HK$193,321,000).

Advisory Services

The Company has been granted with approval to carry out Type
4 regulated activity (advising on securities) by the Securities
and Futures Commission under the SFO during the Reporting
Period. This authorization enables the Group to provide a
spectrum of advisory services related to investment advice
and dealing in securities. The Company has already recruited
employees who have extensive experience in the securities
industry and is proactively engaging in identifying and courting
potential clients. Currently, the Company is in the midst of
negotiations with several potential clients, discussing the scope
and terms of the services it proposes to offer.

Trust Service

Regarding its provision of trust services, the Group is targeting
the provision of professional trust services to its high net worth
clients, in order to fulfil their needs of asset protection, tax
planning and wealth management. The Group has obtained
all required licenses to launch its trust business and is in the
process of developing an online service platform to enable
clients to track the assets held in trust. The Company expects to
complete the online service platform by the end of the second
quarter of 2024.

Other Services

In addition to the above business activities, the Group may on
a case by case basis come across other services, the fee income
from which is recorded as other revenue.

The amount of other revenue generated by the Group

in the Reporting Period was approximately HK$910,000
(Corresponding Period: HK$120,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the Group targets to develop as a diversified
investment and financing services platform, linking up
traditional with new generation financial products and services
in the new era of virtual assets for the market. The Board
also considers that the change of company name during the
Reporting Period better reflects the current direction of the
Group and could more directly reflect the diversified areas of
future business development of the Group. The Board believes
that the adoption of new English and Chinese names is seen
as a step towards establishing a refreshed corporate identity,
which is anticipated to support and enhance the Group’s
business growth moving forward.

The Company is taking appropriate steps and making progress
to meet the resumption guidance as set out in the letter
from the Stock Exchange dated 18 July 2023 (“Resumption
Guidance”), with an aim to resume trading in the shares of
the Company (“Shares”) as soon as possible in full compliance
with the GEM Listing Rules and in a manner satisfactory to the
Stock Exchange.

Dealing with the future challenges, the management of the
Group would review and adjust business strategies on a regular
basis with a prudent and balanced risk management approach.
The Group and the Board will continue to keep abreast of the
latest development of the global financial market and updates
on the regulatory requirements applicable to the Group and to
strive to achieve the business objective to increase the Group’s
exposure and scale of operations and to capture a larger
market share.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB w2

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Key Financial Data

FA 75 o] 8

FEMBEE

As at/Year ended 31 March

Approximate

B/ BE=B=1+—HLEE percentage
2024 2023 change
k-1 -3 _ECCE gl dan
Results of operation (HK$'000) REEE (TET)
Revenue W 23,591 13,755 71.5%
Profit/(loss) before tax BiENER/ (E518) 9,616 (9,529) 200.9%
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year AR A ARG
attributable to owners of the Company FREAWE
(F518) 4828 8,887 (9,514) 193.4%
Financial position (HK$'000) BRI (FE7T)
Current assets MBEE 217,700 188,481 15.5%
Current liabilities REERE 70,436 53,085 32.7%
Net assets BEFE 153,895 143,805 7.0%
Key financial ratios FEFHHX
Net profit margin g P 37.7% (69.3%)
Return on equity fRAR[EIRE 5.8% (6.6%)
Return on total assets BEEDRE 3.9% (4.8%)
Current ratio RELX 3.1 timesfZ 3.6 timesf3
Net debt to equity ratio FEFEERIEEX  Net Cash Position  Net Cash Position
REFERN REFBERR
Gearing ratio BEARILE 19.5% 10.2%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group recorded a total revenue for the Reporting Period
of approximately HK$23,591,000, representing an increase of
approximately 71.5% from approximately HK$13,755,000 for
the Corresponding Period. Details are stated as below:

(i)

(ii)

(ii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The Group's commission income from securities dealing
and brokerage services increased by approximately
68.0% from approximately HK$1,234,000 in the
Corresponding Period to approximately HK$2,073,000 in
the Reporting Period,;

The Group generated fee and commission income from
placing and underwriting activities of approximately
HK$2,436,000 in the Reporting Period (Corresponding
Period: HK$396,000);

The Group's interest income from loan financing, margin
financing and money lending services increased by
approximately 11.5% from approximately HK$8,061,000
in the Corresponding Period to approximately
HK$8,990,000 in the Reporting Period;

The Group's fee income from asset management services
for the Reporting Period was approximately HK$440,000
(Corresponding Period: HK$ Nil);

The Group recorded interest income and service
fees from supply chain financing of approximately
HK$8,430,000 for the Reporting Period (Corresponding
Period: HK$2,024,000);

The Group recorded advisory and restructuring fee
income of approximately HK$312,000 for the Reporting
Period (Corresponding Period: HK$1,920,000);

During the Reporting Period, the fair value changes on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss was at
a gain of approximately HK$6,704,000 (Corresponding
Period: gain of approximately HK$232,000); and

Other revenue increased by 658.3% from approximately
HK$120,000 in the Corresponding Period to
approximately HK$910,000 in the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB w1

Other Gains

Other gains mainly consist of sundry income of approximately
HK$493,000 and government grants amounted to
approximately HK$1,092,000. The total other gains for
the Reporting Period was approximately HK$1,942,000
(Corresponding Period: approximately HK$1,735,000).

Commission Expenses

Commission expenses represent commission paid to the
Group’s accounts executives (including in-house and self-
employed accounts executives) and commission paid to sub-
placing agents or sub-underwriters engaged by the Group
for the fund raising exercises participated by the Group. Total
commission expenses increased by approximately 0.2% from
approximately HK$416,000 in the Corresponding Period to
approximately HK$417,000 in the Reporting Period which was
mainly due to the increase in commission paid to accounts
executives by approximately HK$1,000.

Depreciation expenses for right-of-use assets

Upon implementation of HKFRS 16 effective from 1 January
2020, if the Group enters into any lease transaction as a
lessee, it should recognise the right-of-use assets and will be
regarded as an acquisition of asset under the GEM Listing
Rules. Depreciation expenses for right-of-use assets represent
the leasing period from the head office in Hong Kong. The
depreciation expenses for right-of-use assets for the Reporting
Period was approximately HK$1,486,000 (Corresponding
Period: HK$1,318,000).

Staff Costs

Staff costs include Directors’ emoluments, staff salaries, bonus,
allowances and contribution to Mandatory Provident Fund.
As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total of 19 employees
including Directors (31 March 2023: 20). Staff costs is one
of the largest expense in the Group which accounted for
approximately 31.7% of the total expenses of the Group in the
Reporting Period (Corresponding Period: approximately 31.3%).
Total staff costs in the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$7,317,000, representing a decrease of approximately
8.8% from approximately HK$8,021,000 in the Corresponding
Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses primarily consist of legal and
professional fees, entertainment expenses, office rent and
rates, software and stock information expenses and various
miscellaneous office expenses. Total other operating expenses
increased by 22.5% from approximately HK$8,594,000 in the
Corresponding Period to approximately HK$10,525,000 in the
Reporting Period, and the breakdown is disclosed in note 11 to
the financial statements contained in this report. The increase
was mainly attributable to the increase in legal and professional
fee.

Exchange Gain

The foreign exchange gain for the Reporting Period was
approximately HK$144,000 (the Corresponding Period:
exchange loss HK$3,023,000), which was mainly due to
translation of USD to HKD in the supply chain financing
segment.

Impairment of Assets

Impairment of assets for the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$1,831,000 (Corresponding Period: HK$2,322,000) which is all
from an impairment loss on account receivables (Corresponding
Period: all from an impairment on account receivables).

The impairment loss on accounts receivables for the Reporting
Period was made over a loan financing debtor. The loan was
secured by listed shares owned by the debtor. Based on default
by this debtor, GSL has obtained judgement against this debtor
from the court in March 2021. In August 2023, the pledged
shares were transferred to the borrower's securities account
with GSL. GSL could then start disposing the pledged shares
to recover the loan position. While the market value of the
pledged listed shares has dropped, impairment was made
accordingly.

Impairment assessment was performed on the Group's property
and equipment and right-of-use assets for its head office, and
no impairment loss was recorded for the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Profit for the Year

Profit for the Year was approximately HK$8,890,000, as
compared with a loss for the reporting period of approximately
HK$9,529,000 in the Corresponding Period. Basic earning per
share in the Reporting Period was approximately HK0.44 cents,
as compared with loss per share of approximately HK0.48 cents
in the Corresponding Period. The turnaround was mainly due to
the increase of sales and strict control of operating costs.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the Reporting Period (Corresponding Period: nil).

Right-of-use Assets

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's right-of-use assets amounted
to approximately HK$7,146,000, which is lease arrangement
for the Hong Kong office. Additions to the right-of use
assets for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately
HK$7,496,000, due to renewal of existing Hong Kong office.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

The investment at fair value through profit or loss held by the
Company is shares of a Hong Kong listed company due to an
underwriting engagement of its rights issue in March 2023, the
fair value being the market value of these shares.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

For the Reporting Period, the Group mainly financed its
operations, capital expenditure and other capital requirements
by internal resources and a loan facility provided by the
Company'’s controlling shareholder.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 March 2024, the net current assets of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$147,264,000 (31 March 2023:
approximately HK$135,396,000), including cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$10,153,000 excluding cash
held on behalf of customers (31 March 2023: approximately
HK$36,617,000). The current ratio of the Group, being the
ratio of current assets to current liabilities, was approximately
3.1 times (31 March 2023: 3.6 times).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no bank borrowings
outstanding (31 March 2023: HK$nil).

The capital of the Group comprises only ordinary shares. Total
equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$152,707,000 as at 31 March 2024 (31
March 2023: approximately HK$143,820,000).

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any charges on
its assets (31 March 2023: Nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total of 19 employees
including Directors (31 March 2023: 20). Total staff costs
(including Directors’ emoluments, staff salaries, bonus,
allowances and contribution to the Mandatory Provident Fund)
for the Reporting Period were approximately HK$7,317,000
(Corresponding Period: approximately HK$8,021,000).
Employees’ remuneration was determined based on the
employees’ qualification, experience, position and seniority. The
remuneration packages comprise mainly monthly fixed salaries
and discretionary bonuses based on individual performance,
which are paid to employees as recognition of, and reward for,
their contributions.

The Group regularly reviews its remuneration policies and
employee benefits with reference to market practices and
performance of individual employees. The Group is also
committed to providing appropriate on-going training to staff
members to equip them for future career development. There
has been no major change in staff remuneration policies during
the year ended 31 March 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group's exposure to foreign exchange risk is primarily
related to transactions denominated in a currency other than
Hong Kong dollars. The turnover and operation costs of the
Group were principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The
Group currently does not have a policy on hedges of foreign
exchange risk. However, the Group will closely monitor the
fluctuations in exchange rates and will consider to employ
financial instrument for hedging should the needs arise.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2024, the gearing ratio of the Group, which
was calculated by dividing the total debts by the total equity,
was 19.5% (31 March 2023: 10.2%).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any future plans for material
investments or capital assets as at the date of this report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group hold shares of a Hong Kong listed company due to
an underwriting engagement of its rights issue in March 2023.
As at 31 March 2024, the book value of this investment at fair
value stood at approximately HK$13,842,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$7,962,000). During the Reporting Period, the fair value
changes on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
was at a gain of approximately HK$6,704,000 (Corresponding
Period: gain of approximately HK$232,000). Save as disclosed
in this report, the Group did not hold any significant
investments during the Reporting Period.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had no significant outstanding capital commitment
as at 31 March 2024 (31 March 2023: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2024 (31 March 2023: nil).

CONTINUED SUSPENSION OF TRADING

References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated (i) 28 June 2023 in relation to the decision of the
GEM Listing Review Committee of the Stock Exchange
and the suspension of trading in the Shares; (ii) 21 July
2023 in relation to the Resumption Guidance; and (iii) 28
September 2023, 28 December 2023 and 28 March 2024 in
relation to, among others, the quarterly update on status of
resumption. The Group has continued to develop its business
notwithstanding the suspension of trading in Shares. In an
effort to demonstrate its compliance with Rule 17.26 of the
GEM Listing Rules, the Group has actively continued to develop,
improve and strengthen its existing business capabilities with
an aim to enhancing its long-term growth. The Company
is taking appropriate steps and making progresses to meet
the Resumption Guidance with an aim to resuming trading
in the Shares as soon as possible in full compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules and in a manner satisfactory to the Stock
Exchange.

At the request of the Company, trading in the Shares on the
Stock Exchange has been suspended with effect from 9:00 a.m.
on 29 June 2023 and will remain suspended until the Company
fulfils the Resumption Guidance. The Company will keep
shareholders and potential investors informed of, amongst
others, the latest progress of the resumption plan as and when
appropriate and in accordance with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this report, the Directors are not aware of
any significant event requiring disclosure that has been taken
place subsequent to 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this
report.

BB w2

HABEE

RN _E_INE=RA=+—H XxEBIL
EEARAEGB(CE_=Z=FE=A=+—
H:H#) o

MEE(FEE

ZIRMARABHBEANZZE =48
“+NH AR ERABRFIGEM &%
LZEGRATKRERHMEEFEES , M(N_ZF
T ZEtRZ+—H RNBEMBERE
5 RNV _E_=ZFAB-+N\B =
TEE+ A+ NBAERZEZME=
BZ+N\B RAEEM@ (HPaE) B
RANETEENZ2AE - BERNEGEE
B AEENEEBESEHER - AEHAE
BSFGEM ETRBIE17.2618093RE » A&
EUREERPEREABEE HEBRE
B-MERESEFNEREN AQF
A B ERRIES] ) [EREGE E 18 i B EE
EE UEEETGEMLETREBSHR
FrmERN AN BRMERNES -

BAERBBR ROBRZZE_=FA
“t+tHhABHBLEFAREERBIREFFE
B IKEEFEREEAARBITER
31731k o A BIR B E By 5 R IR RGEM
EHRABNREARREEREEER
H g ERst8INENER-

BEHREMN

RAREFNBEEN EELTAER S
EoNE=AC+—BBRREEARED
HEREEAATRENEAEF-

—ENFEFR . SHEHEEFRAE

21



22

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB w1

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s risk management objectives are to achieve a proper
balance between risks and yield, minimise the adverse impacts
of risks on the Group's operating performance, and maximise
the benefits of the shareholders of the Company. The Group
has in place a risk management structure and implemented
compliance and operational manuals, which contain credit
policies, operating procedures and other internal control
measures for control of exposure to risks during the course of
business activities.

Credit Risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for the determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group holds collateral to cover
its credit risks associated with its accounts receivables from
margin and loan clients and reviews the recoverables amount
of each individual accounts receivables at the end of each
reporting period to ensure adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Directors
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Liquidity Risk

GSL is subject to liquid capital requirements under the Hong
Kong Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules
(“SF(FR)R"). The management of the Group closely monitors,
on a daily basis, the liquid capital level of GSL to ensure
compliance with the requirements under the SF(FR)R.

The Group also has other monitoring systems to monitor and
maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents deems adequate
by the management to finance the Group's operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

Operational Risk

The Group has responsible officers and compliance officers in
charge of overseeing the day-to-day operations, controlling
and monitoring compliance issues and solving dealing
problems. They also formulate and update the compliance
and operational manuals for each business function based
on regulatory and industrial requirements to standardise the
Group’s operational procedures and reduce human errors.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fok Yuk Tong (“Mr. Fok”), aged 60, was appointed as an
executive Director on 20 November 2020 and as the chairman
of the Board on 12 October 2021. Mr. Fok is currently a
director of PF Group Holdings Limited, Dynamic Express Global
Limited, Pacific Foundation Holdings Limited (KFEZEIZRR
BIR/AT]), GSL, GFL, Jovial Victory Global Limited (2 B5IREK
BIE/AF)), Chance Wise Holdings Limited (t581ZRRAERA
@), Brothers Worldwide Company Limited, Big Win Worldwide
Company Limited, Excellence International Company Limited,
UB Trust Company Limited (2IB{E5EHEMRAF) and Perfect
Ten Holdings Limited, all of which are subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Fok has been engaging in the wholesale trading
and distribution of telecommunications electronic products for
over 20 years. Mr. Fok is the spouse of Ms. Hsieh Ching Chun
and the father of Ms. Fok Kit Yee.

Ms. Hsieh Ching Chun (“Ms. Hsieh”), aged 63, was
appointed as an executive Director on 20 November 2020.
Ms. Hsieh is currently a director of PF Group Holdings Limited,
Dynamic Express Global Limited, Pacific Foundation Holdings
Limited (KFEEZEZRAFRAT), GSL, GFL, Jovial Victory
Global Limited (IRBFIRIKBFR/AT]), Chance Wise Holdings
Limited (#533ERRAER/AT)), Brothers Worldwide Company
Limited, Big Win Worldwide Company Limited, Excellence
International Company Limited, UB Trust Company Limited
(EEEEAMRAE) and Perfect Ten Holdings Limited,
all of which are subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Hsieh has
been engaging in the wholesale trading and distribution of
telecommunications electronic products for over 20 years. Ms.
Hsieh is the spouse of Mr. Fok and the mother of Ms. Fok Kit
Yee.

Ms. Fok Kit Yee (“"Ms. Fok"”), aged 37, was appointed as
an executive Director on 11 December 2020. Ms. Fok has
been engaging in the wholesale trading and distribution of
telecommunications electronic products for over 10 years. She
holds a Bachelor of Business (Tourism & Hospitality) from La
Trobe University and Diploma of Commerce from Melbourne
Institute of Business and Technology. Ms. Fok is a daughter of
Ms. Hsieh and Mr. Fok.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEREREE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chan Hoi Wuen Katherine (“Ms. Chan”), aged 43,
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
11 December 2020. Ms. Chan holds a Bachelor degree in Arts
(first-class honours) and a Master degree in Philosophy at the
University of Hong Kong as well as a Bachelor degree in Laws
at the Manchester Metropolitan University. She is currently a
practising solicitor in Hong Kong and a principal of Katherine
Chan Law Office. She has a wide range of experience in
corporate finance, private equity and acquisitions and is familiar
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange, corporate governance and compliance issues of
listed companies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tong Wing Chi (“Mr. Tong”), aged 42, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 6 October 2021.
Mr. Tong obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts (Honors) in
Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
November 2004 and has been a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since September 2008.

Mr. Tong has over 15 years of experience in auditing,
accounting and financial reporting. Mr. Tong started his
career in Deloitte Touché Tohmatsu from September 2004 to
February 2010 with his last position as an audit senior. He
then worked in DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited as a senior
accountant from March 2010 to October 2011. Mr. Tong
returned to Deloitte Touché Tohmatsu in October 2011 as an
audit manager and his last held position was a manager of CXO
advisory service when he left the company in February 2014.
From April 2014 to April 2016, Mr. Tong worked in Suncity
Group Commercial Consulting Limited, a limited company
incorporated in Macau, as an assistant director (finance). From
April 2016 to October 2016, he then worked in China Cinda
(HK) Holdings Company Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of
China Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd. which is a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
1359), as a deputy senior manager of the accounting and
finance department. From October 2016 to March 2017,
Mr. Tong worked in Huarong Investment Stock Corporation
Limited (a company formerly listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange with original stock code 2277 before being
privatised in November 2020), as a senior finance manager
at the finance department. He then worked in Suncity Group
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1383) from March 2017 to June
2018 as a financial controller and company secretary. Mr. Tong
has been a managing director of Victory Success Consulting
Limited since July 2018 and a managing partner of Edward
& Stan Global Advisory Limited since November 2019. Also,
Mr. Tong was a joint company secretary of China Bright Culture
Group (stock code: 1859, a company listed on Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) for the period from
21 July 2022 to 28 February 2023.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFMEREEERERE

Mr. Tong was an independent non-executive director of
Trendzon Holdings Group Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1865), from 21
September 2020 to 31 March 2022 and was an independent
non-executive director of Greater Bay Area Dynamic Growth
Holding Limited (Stock Code: 1189) from 19 September 2022
to 25 August 2023. He is an independent non-executive
director of CHTC Fong’s International Company Limited (stock
code: 641, a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) since 1 March 2022.

Mr. Kwan Tsz Chun Sun (“Mr. Kwan"), aged 44, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 11
October 2021. Mr. Kwan is currently a practising solicitor of a
local law firm. Before joining the legal profession, Mr. Kwan
served as a responsible officer for Types 4 and/or 9 regulated
activities under the SFO for a number of financial institutions
in Hong Kong. Prior to that, Mr. Kwan worked as an assistant
investigator in the Operations Department of the Independent
Commission Against Corruption of Hong Kong. Mr. Kwan
obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2001, a degree
of Bachelor of Laws from University of London in 2008 and a
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong
Kong in 2013.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lee Ho Leung William (“Mr. Lee”), aged 52, he was
an executive Director from 1 April 2023 to 2 January 2024.
Mr. Lee is one of the Responsible Officers for the Group’s
Type 1 and Type 9 regulated activities under the SFO. Mr. Lee
was appointed as the Managing Director of GSL, one of the
operating subsidiaries of the Company, on 5 November 2020
and was appointed as a director of GSL on 1 May 2021. Mr.
Lee is the Manager-in-Charge (“MIC") of GSL of the following
Core Functions as defined under the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Commission’s MIC Regime (“MIC Regime"”): Overall
Management Oversight, Key Business Line (Asset management),
Operational Control and Review, Risk Management,
Compliance and Information Technology. Mr. Lee has over 20
years experiences in private equity, venture capital, structured
finance investment and corporate finance. Mr. Lee had been
Responsible Officer for Type 1, 4, 6 and/or 9 activities under
the SFO for various financial institutions. Mr. Lee obtained a
bachelor’s degree in accountancy from City University of Hong
Kong, a Master of Business Administration degree from the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and a Master
of International and Public Affairs degree from the University
of Hong Kong. Mr. Lee was admitted as a member to the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in 1998 and
became a fellow of the association in 2003. Mr. Lee has been a
Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) charterholder since 2001.

Mr. Fung Kin Chung (“Mr. Fung”), aged 46, is one of
the Responsible Officers for the Group's Type 1 and Type
9 regulated activities under the SFO and he is responsible
for, among others, setting up and developing the External
Asset Manager (EAM) business and Trust businesses for the
Group. He is also a director of UB Trust Company Limited. Mr.
Fung has around 17 years of experience in the Hong Kong’s
finance industry, covering the fields of banking, insurance and
securities. Prior to joining the Group in January 2023, Mr. Fung
worked at | WIN SECURITIES LIMITED from 2021-2022 where
he was the Director and one of the Responsible Officers (Type
1, 4 and 9 regulated activities). From 2016 to 2021, Mr. Fung
worked for CHINA INDUSTRIAL SECURITIES INTERNATIONAL
BROKERAGE LIMITED and Basel Capital Limited as Director
of Sales, at which he is responsible for all sales related issues
including the operation and compliances. Mr. Fung obtained
a bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Engineering from the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology in November 1999.
He has been a certified financial planner (CFP) of the Institute
of Financial Planners of Hong Kong in Year 2009.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEELRHRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and senior management of the Company are
committed to promoting high standards of corporate
governance practices and procedures to ensure that sound
and appropriate corporate governance practices are in place
to grow the Group and safeguard the interests of shareholders
and the Group's assets.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing
Rules as its own code of corporate governance. For the year
ended 31 March 2024, to the best of the knowledge of the
Board, the Company was in compliance with the relevant code
provisions set out in the CG Code, except for the deviations
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explained below.

Code provision

ST RIS

C.1.8

55C.1.815

C.2.1

$BC2.11ME

Gaoyu Finance Group Limited

Reasons for the non-compliance and improvement actions took
or to be taken

FERRRARBEH S ERMZAETE

As the Company intends to solicit a suitable insurer at reasonable
commercial terms and conditions, therefore has not arranged
appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against its
Directors for the year ended 31 March 2024.
ARARERUSENBERIREHESKREBNRRAF >
AMBE_ZT_NF=A=+T—HBLFEHHHESENEEHFNL
BB E R IR

The Company has not appointed a chief executive officer as role
and functions of chief executive officer have been performed by
all the executive Directors collectively. The Board believes that this
arrangement enables the Company to make and implement decisions
promptly, and thus achieve the Company’s objectives effectively and
efficiently in response to the changing environment. The Board will
continuously assess whether any changes are necessary.
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Code provision
TFAMEX

D.1.2

$D.1.21%

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERES

Reasons for the non-compliance and improvement actions took
or to be taken

FERERRBEXRERMZAETE

The Company has not provided all members of the Board with
monthly updates to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties. However, the Company has based on business
situation, provided to the Board on a quarterly basis, updated business
information to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties. The Company considers that such business
information arising out of the ordinary business provided to the Board
from time to time instead of monthly updates are sufficient for the
Board to discharge its duties. In the event there are any significant
updates to be provided, the Company will update all the Directors as
early as practicable for discussion and resolution. Every Director could
make enquiries with the Company about the business operation of the
Group and give suggestions or feedback freely.
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The Board will continue to review its corporate governance EBEREREBERTEHPESAER HK

practices in order to enhance its corporate governance
standards, comply with the increasingly complicated regulatory
requirements, and meet with the rising expectations of the
shareholders and respective investors of the Company.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings
(the “"Required Standard of Dealings”) set out in Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having
made specific enquiries with all Directors, the Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the Required Standard
of Dealings throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.
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THE BOARD

The Board has the responsibility for leadership and control
of the Group and the Directors are collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Group by directing and
supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board is accountable to
shareholders for the strategic development of the Group with
the goal of maximising long-term shareholder value, while
balancing broader stakeholder interests. The Board is also
responsible to communicate with shareholders and regulatory
bodies and, where appropriate, will make recommendations to
shareholders on final dividends and approve the declaration of
any interim dividend. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
responsibility to the executive Directors and senior management
of the Company who will meet regularly to review the financial
results and performance of the Group and make financial and
operational decisions for the implementation of strategies and
plans approved by the Board.

Composition of the Board

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to date of this
report, the Board comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Fok Yuk Tong (Chairman)

Ms. Hsieh Ching Chun

Ms. Fok Kit Yee

Mr. Lee Ho Leung William
(appointed on 1 April 2023 and resigned on
2 January 2024)

Mr. Zhong Chu lJian
(resigned on 1 April 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Chan Hoi Wuen Katherine
Mr. Tong Wing Chi
Mr. Kwan Tsz Chun Sun

As at the date of this report, the Board currently comprises
six members, including three executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. The biographical details
of them (including relationships between the Board members)
are set out on pages 23 to 26 of this report.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

In accordance with article 83(3) of the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company (the “Memorandum
and Articles”), the Directors shall have the power from time
to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to
the existing Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill
a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting
of shareholders of the Company after his/her appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election.

In addition, in accordance with article 84 of the Memorandum
and Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or if their number is not a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation and being eligible
offer themselves for re-election provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years. The Directors to retire
by rotation in every year shall be those who have been longest
in office since their last appointment or re-appointment.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Fok is the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”),
in which he is responsible for ensuring that the Board is
functioning properly, with good corporate governance practices
and procedures.

As aforementioned, the Company has not appointed a chief
executive officer as role and functions of chief executive officer
have been performed by all the executive Directors collectively.
They are responsible for implementing objectives, policies and
strategies approved and delegated by the Board. They are
also in charge of the Group's day-to-day management and
operations.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors are seasoned
individuals from diversified backgrounds and industries.

In compliance with rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent
non-executive Directors representing more than one-third
of the Board, and with at least one of them possessing the
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The independent non-executive Directors are appointed an
initial term of two years, and either party may terminate such
appointment at any time by giving at least one month’s prior
notice in writing to the other and is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Memorandum and Articles.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company is of the view that all of them have
met the guidelines for assessing independence as set out in rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and still considers them to be
independent as at the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of
the CG Code which include (a) developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and make recommendations; (b) reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management; (c) reviewing and monitoring the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements; (d) developing, reviewing and
monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any)
applicable to employees and Directors; and (e) reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) in compliance with rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the
GEM Listing Rules and with the written terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code. The Audit Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Tong, Mr. Kwan and Ms. Chan. Mr. Tong is the chairman of
the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among
others, (i) to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and removal of external auditors; (ii) to review
and monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and provide advices in respect of financial reporting; (iii) to
oversee the financial reporting system, internal control and risk
management systems of the Group; and (iv) to monitor any
continuing connected transactions.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Audit Committee
held four meetings to review the quarterly, interim and annual
financial results of the Group. It has also reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group,
and met with the external auditor twice to discuss auditing,
statutory compliance and financial reporting matters. The Audit
Committee had reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements (the “Consolidated Financial Statements”)
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 and was
of the opinion that the Consolidated Financial Statements
complied with the applicable accounting standards, the GEM
Listing Rules and other applicable legal requirements and that
adequate disclosures were made therein.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) in compliance with rule 5.36A
of the GEM Listing Rules and with written terms of reference
in compliance with the CG Code. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises two executive Directors, namely Mr. Fok
and Ms. Fok, and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Chan, Mr. Kwan and Mr. Tong. Ms. Chan is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are, among
others, (i) to review the structure, size, composition and to
make recommendations to the Board after such review; (ii)
to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members; (iii) to assess the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; (iv) to make recommendations to the
Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors; and (v) to review succession planning
for Directors, the Nomination Policy (as defined below) and
Board Diversity Policy (as defined below).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, one meeting was held
to make recommendations on the re-election of Directors at
the general meeting; reviewing the structure, size, composition
and diversity of the Board; assessing the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors; and reviewing the
Nomination Policy (as defined below) and Board Diversity Policy
(as defined below).

Gaoyu Finance Group Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2024

REEEY

AT BEIRIEGEM EHIRE] 55,36 A%
UR%EZES ((REZEY)) ' ERD
EEATAIHEARELE RREE
CEHAEMLATESELRERER T
BR=2BUENTEEHR LT AEER
oL M T AIRLEEETFo

REZEENTIEHEH HPEE ()2
SR AU RS RN ESE
RHEEEZZ (IWEEBEEGBEERAE
FEEFEMEMAL ;(i)HEBILIENTT
EEMVEILM (VL AREZEREMRE
EENEREENESTERMHEHERERE
RWEBENEFHEEE  RBRBER (E&
RTX) REFEZTIEHRR (EERT
X) e

BE_ZTNEF=-RA=+—HILEFE &
LEEEERT—REZLBINKRERE
IEERSERLEEER, BTEFER
B ANB MR KR Z e sHEEILIEATT
EEMNEIIM REHREBBER (EER
T REFELZTERER(EER T °



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Board Diversity Policy

The board diversity policy of the Group (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) as adopted by the Board aims to achieve diversity in
the Board in order to have a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives in accordance with the business nature
of the Group. The Company endorses and recognises the
benefits of having a diversified Board. A summary of the Board
Diversity Policy is set out below:

Measurable Objectives and Implementation

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will report annually, in this report,
on the Board’s composition under diversified perspectives, and
monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy.

Review of the Board Diversity Policy

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any
revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

The Board currently comprises three females and three male
Directors, the Board is satisfied that an adequate level of
gender diversity has been achieved in respect of the Board.
The Company, through its commitment to providing equal
opportunities as well as selecting the right candidates based
on objective criteria with due regard for the benefits of
diversity, will ensure that gender diversity is emphasised and
maintained at the Board level in respect of succession planning
in order to make available a diverse pipeline of candidates
for appointment to the Board in case of any vacancies. The
Group is also committed to achieving gender diversity across
the workforce (including Directors and senior management).
As at the date of this report, the gender ratio in the workforce
(including Directors and senior management) is approximately
1:1, the Board considers that the gender diversity in workforce
is currently achieved.
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Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the
nomination procedures, criteria and process in the nomination
and appointment of Directors.

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria
in evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships:

character and integrity;

qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

requirement in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and
whether the candidate would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines set out
in the GEM Listing Rules (in case of independent non-
executive Directors);

any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company; and

any other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of Directors and succession planning.
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Directors Nomination Procedures

The Board has the relevant procedures for Directors’
nomination which are pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and
the Memorandum and Articles as below:

(a)

(b)

Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee or the company secretary
of the Company shall call for a meeting of the
Nomination Committee upon receipt of any nominations
of candidates. The Nomination Committee should
evaluate such candidate based on the selection criteria
mentioned above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship. The Nomination Committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint the
appropriate candidate for directorship. For any person
that is nominated by a shareholder for election as a
Director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should evaluate
such candidate based on the same selection criteria as
mentioned above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship, and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should make
recommendation to the shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of Director at the general meeting.
The Board should have the final decision on all matters
relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand for
election at any general meeting.

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

Retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board
to stand for re-election at the general meeting according
to the Memorandum and Articles. The Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should review the overall
contribution and service of the retiring Director to the
Company, his/her level of participation and performance
on the Board and determine whether the retiring Director
continues to meet the above selection criteria. The
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to the shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of Director at the general
meeting.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”) in compliance with the
rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules and with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee currently comprises one executive Director, namely
Mr. Fok, and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Chan, Mr. Kwan and Mr. Tong. Mr. Kwan is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are, among
others, (i) to review and make recommendations to the Board
on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all
Directors and senior management of the Group; (i) to make
recommendations to the Board on remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and non-executive Directors as
well as the senior management of the Group; (iii) to review
other remuneration-related matters, including benefits-in-
kind and other compensation payable to the Directors and
senior management; and (iv) to review performance based
remunerations and to establish a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy in relation to remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, one meeting was held
to make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
package of Directors and reviewing the policy and structure of
the remuneration packages for Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, five meetings were
held by the Board and two general meetings. The attendance
of each member of the committees’ meetings, Board meetings
and general meetings held during the Reporting Period are
recorded as follows:
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Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held (Note)

HESERYRTEHRY (D)

Audit Nomination  Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee General
Director Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
B3 EZ9gE BNRZEY8E R4LZE9EE FWZEgg: BERE
Mr. Fok ERE 5/5 - 7 171 2/2
Ms. Hsieh #Hat 4/5 - - - 2
Ms. Fok Egt 4/5 - 1/1 - 212
Ms. Chan Bt 4/5 4/4 17 17 22
Mr. Tong BRE 4/5 4/4 1/1 1/1 22
Mr. Kwan MRt 4/5 4/4 7 71 212
Mr. Lee (resigned on FEE(R-E-_MNF 33 - - - 22
2 January 2024) —BZHE#D
Mr. Zhong (resigned on 5% (M- =& - - - - -
1 April 2023) mE—BEM)
Note: B EE -

Attendance of the Directors who were appointed and/or had resigned
during the Reporting Period were made by reference to the number of
such meetings held during their respective tenures.
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EXERES

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities to prepare
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and other
financial disclosures required under the GEM Listing Rules
and the management has provided such explanation and
information to the Board to enable it to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other Board decisions. The
Directors believe that they have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and
estimates that are prudent and reasonable and ensured the
consolidated financial statements are prepared on a “going
concern” basis. The statement of the auditors of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent
Auditors’ Report on pages 65 to 68 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he is fully aware of his duties
and responsibilities as a director under applicable rules and
requirements.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, the Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
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The Company provided regular updates and presentations on
changes and developments relating to the Group’s business and
the legislative and regulatory environments to the Directors and
encouraged Directors to participate in continuous professional
developments. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
Directors have confirmed that they have received the training as
follow:
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Attending or participating
in seminars/briefings
or reading regulatory

updates/journals relating
to director’s duties

HEXSEEE
A EREEEE
RIER EEHE
MERAEA T
Executive Directors WITES

Mr. Fok ERE 4
Ms. Hsieh HZt v
Ms. Fok Bzt v/
Mr. Lee (resigned on 2 January 2024) FhE (RZ2EZTHE—FB ZHEHD) 4
Mr. Zhong (resigned on 1 April 2023) Bt (M2 =FMA—H&MD -

Independent Non-executive Directors BIERITES
Ms. Chan PR+ 4
Mr. Tong ERE 4
Mr. Kwan R4 v/

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external professional company
secretarial services provider, Z.L. Global Corporate Services
Limited (“ZLGCS"), to provide compliance and full range
of company secretarial services to the Company in order to
assist the Company to cope with the changing regulatory
environment and to suit different commercial needs. Mr.
Lam Man Kit (“Mr. Lam”), the representative of ZLGCS, was
appointed as the named company secretary of the Company.
His primary corporate contact person at the Company is Mr.
Fok, the Chairman and an executive Director of the Company.
According to rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Lam has
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training for the Reporting Period.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the remuneration paid
or payable to the external auditors of the Company in respect
of the audit and non-audit services were as follows:

Services rendered

B A% AT &
BE_Z_ME=B=+—ALEE &
A BV RAL BRI RS O AF A fS 5P
22 Gl

Remuneration
paid/payable

Frig AR5 217, &
HK$°000
FET
Audit services ZE AR 75

— Statutory audit services — EEZERT 680

Non-audit services FEIZBARTS
— Tax advisory services — M BARTS 6
686

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board approved and adopted a dividend policy (the
"Dividend Policy”) which outlines general principles for the
determination and payment of dividend to its shareholders.
Dividends or distributions by the Company shall be determined
and declared in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations, the Memorandum and Articles and the Dividend
Policy. The Board may amend any provision in the Dividend
Policy if it considers necessary.

Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, that, in recommending or
declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate
and sufficient cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth as well as its shareholder
value. The Board has the absolute discretion to declare and
distribute dividends from time to time to the shareholders,
and any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
shareholders’ approval. In proposing any dividend payout,
the Board shall also take into account, among other things,
the Group’s financial results, financial position, cash flow
situation, business conditions and strategies, expected future
operations and earnings, capital requirements and expenditure
plans, interests of shareholders, any restrictions on payment
of dividends and any other factors the Board may consider
relevant.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Memorandum
and Articles were amended to, inter alia, (i) bringing the
Memorandum and Articles in line with the latest legal and
regulatory requirements, including the amendments made
to Appendix 3 to the GEM Listing Rules and applicable laws
and procedures of the Cayman lIslands; (ii) making other
consequential and housekeeping amendments; and (iii) update
the name(s) of the Company from “PF Group Holdings Limited”
to “Gaoyu Finance Group Limited” and the Chinese name “&

BEREBAERLQF".

Save as disclosed above, there was no significant change
or other proposed change in the constitutional document
during the year ended 31 March 2024. The latest version of
the Company’s constitutional documents is available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange's website.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for overseeing
the risk management (including environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) risk) and internal control systems of
the Group and reviewing their effectiveness. The Company'’s
risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The
Board is committed to implementing an effective and sound
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the
interest of the shareholders and the Group’s assets. The Board
has delegated to the management the implementation of the
systems of risk management and internal control and review of
all relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and risk
management functions within the established framework, and
the management has provided a confirmation to the Board on
the effectiveness of these systems for the year ended 31 March
2024.

The Group has engaged an independent external professional
consultant to conduct independent internal control review
throughout the year. The review covered the risk management
and internal control systems including financial, operational,
compliance control and risk management functions. Such
review will be conducted regularly throughout each year.
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As the corporate and operating structure of the Group is
not complex and a separate internal audit department may
divert resources of the Group, the Group does not have an
internal audit department. However, because the Group has
engaged an independent external professional consultant to
conduct internal control review, the Board through the Audit
Committee, conducted an annual review of effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
includes reviewing the internal control review report issued by
the independent external professional consultant and reviewing
the need for a separate internal audit department.

The scope of work of the independent external professional
consultant includes reviewing the design of the control and
performing walkthrough of the processes. The independent
external professional consultant has reported major findings
and areas for improvement to the Audit Committee. All
recommendations from the independent external professional
consultant would be followed up closely to ensure that they are
implemented within a reasonable period of time.

Key elements of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group is described below, they have been
operating throughout the year and reviewed regularly by the
Board up to the date of this report.

o management structure is clearly defined with lines of
responsibilities and delegation of authority;

o high recruitment standards and formal career development
and training to ensure the integrity and competence of the
staff;

o regular and comprehensive information provided to
management, covering financial results and non-financial
performance indicators;

o procedures for the approval of capital expenditure,
investments and acquisitions;

o detailed budgeting process in which top management
is involved in budget setting, constant monitoring of
key statistics and review of management accounts on a
monthly basis, noting and investigating major variances;
and

o consideration of mitigating measures against significant

business risks at monthly management review meetings,
with quarterly briefings to the Board.
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The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification

Identifies risks relating to changing regulatory and operating
environment that may potentially affect the Group's business
and operations.

Risk Assessment

Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by management; and considers the impacts of risks
on the business caused by adverse events together with the
likelihood of occurrence of these adverse events.

Response to Risks

Prioritizes the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessments; and determines the risk mitigation plan and
internal control processes to prevent, avoid and mitigate the
risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risks and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place and resolve material internal control defects (if any);
revises the risk mitigation plan and internal control processes
in case of any significant change of situation; and reports the
results and make appropriate suggestions of risk monitoring to
management and the Board regularly.
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Procedures and Internal Control Measures for Handling
and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Group has in place, as an element of its risk management
and internal control systems, a policy on handling and
dissemination of inside information, to ensure that inside
information is handled and disseminated properly and in
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations. The
department heads within the Group and an executive Director
are responsible for monitoring the changes and developments
in their respective areas of operation and report any potential
or suspected inside information events to the Board. Based
on this information obtained through internal reporting, the
Board assesses whether any of the information constitutes
inside information which needs to be released to the public.
Should public disclosure be required, the Board will determine
the scope of information to be disclosed and the timing of
disclosure. If and when appropriate, the Board may seek
independent professional advice to ensure that the Company
complies with the disclosure requirements.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining
a high standard of probity, openness, and accountability. A
whistleblowing policy is in place to create a system for the
employees and other stakeholders of the Company to raise
concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties. The
identity of each whistleblower and all information provided in
connection with a whistleblowing report will be treated with
the strictest confidence.

Anti-Corruption Policy

The Group is committed to promoting a culture of compliance,
ethical conduct and good corporate governance within the
Group, and the Company prohibits all forms of corruption
and is committed to preventing and investigating all forms
of corruption. The Company has adopted an anti-corruption
policy to set out the specific behavioural guidelines that the
Group's personnel and business partners must follow to combat
corruption and demonstrate the Group’s commitment to
the practice of ethical business conduct and the compliance
of the anti-corruption laws and regulations that apply to its
operations.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control system and considered the Group's risk management
and internal control as adequate and effective.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhance investor relations. It is
committed to a policy of timely disclosure of corporate
information to its shareholders and public investors.

Information of the Company shall be communicated to the
shareholders and potential investors mainly through the
Company's quarterly, interim and annual reports, annual
general meetings and other general meetings that may be
convened as well as by making available all the disclosure
submitted to the Stock Exchange and the corporate
communications and other corporate publications on the
Company'’s website.

RIGHTS OF THE SHAREHOLDERS

Procedures for the Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to article 58 of the Memorandum and Articles, any
one or more members holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company, shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals by
Shareholders at Shareholders’ Meetings

The shareholders may include a resolution to be considered
at an extraordinary general meeting. The requirements
and procedures are set out above in the paragraph headed
"Procedures for the Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting”.
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Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

The shareholders may send their enquiries to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong (located at Room 4409, 44/F, COSCO
Tower, 183 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong) by post or by
email to info@gysechk.com. Shareholders may at any time
make a request for the Company’s information to the extent
such information is publicly available.

Procedures for the Shareholders to Propose a Person
for Election as a Director

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a
person for election as a Director are posted on the Company'’s
website.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group
is principally engaged in the provision of (i) securities dealing
and brokerage services (Hong Kong and US stocks); (ii) placing
and underwriting services; (iii) financing services including
loan financing, securities and IPO margin financing and money
lending; (iv) asset management services; (v) supply chain
financing; (vi) trust services; and (vii) advisory and restructuring
services.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March
2024 are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A detailed review and analysis on the Group’s business
performance and the material factors underlying its financial
position during the year ended 31 March 2024, as well as the
development and likely future prospects of the Group’s business
are provided throughout this report and in particular under the
following separate sections:

(i) review of the Company's business and financial position
and development and future prospects of the Company’s
business are shown in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this report;

(i)  details of key performance indicators are shown in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of
this report;

(iii)  the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company
are shown in the paragraph headed “Principal Risks and
Uncertainties” in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis”;

(iv) the Group’'s compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations are shown in the paragraph headed
“Compliance with Relevant laws and regulations” below
and the "ESG Report 2024"; and
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(v) the Group's key relationships with employees, customers
and suppliers are shown in the paragraph headed “Key
Relationships with Key Stakeholders” below and the “ESG
Report 2024".

For details about the environmental policies and performance
of the Group, please refer to the “ESG Report 2024" issued
by the Company at the same time of the publication of the
Annual Report 2024 of the Company. The Company's ESG
Report 2024 was published in electronic form only under
the Investor Relations section of the Company’s website at
www.gyf.com.hk and is also available on the website of HKEX
at www.hkexnews.hk. If you wish to receive the printed version
of the ESG Report 2024, you may send your request in writing
to the Company’s head office and principal place of business in
Hong Kong.

The discussions referred to in the above form part of this report
of the Directors.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment reporting are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024
and the financial position of the Group as at that date are set
out in the consolidated financial statements from pages 69 to
71 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (31 March 2023: nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for each of the last five financial years is set out on page
140 of this report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the revenue attributable
to the Group's largest customer accounted for approximately
25.9% (31 March 2023: approximately 34.3%) of the Group’s
total revenue and the revenue attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for approximately 37.4%
(31 March 2023: approximately 66.3%) of the Group's total
revenue.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of the Directors,
their respective close associates (as defined under the GEM
Listing Rules) nor any shareholder of the Company (who to the
best of the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
the issued shares of the Company) had an interest in any of the
major customers above.

The Group had no supplier due to the nature of its principal
business activities.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in
note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURES

The Company did not issue any debentures during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and in note 34
to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’'s reserves available for
distribution to the shareholders of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$35,634,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$38,794,000).
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Memorandum and Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted by the
shareholders of the Company and was effective on 5 December
2016. Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the Scheme
will remain in force for a period of 10 years from the date of
its adoption on 5 December 2016. Subject to the terms of the
Scheme, the Board shall be entitled to make an offer of the
grant of an option (the “Option”) to subscribe for shares (the
“Shares”) of the Company to any Directors, employees of the
Group, consultants or advisers of the Group, providers of goods
and/or services to the Group, customers of the Group, holders
of securities issued by any member of the Group, or any other
person, who at the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed
to the Group (the "Eligible Participants”), whom the Board
may select at its absolute discretion.

The purpose of the Scheme is to advance the interests of the
Company and the shareholders by enabling the Company
to grant Options to attract, retain and reward the Eligible
Participants and to provide the Eligible Participants an incentive
or reward for their contribution to the Group and by enabling
such persons’ contribution to further advance the interests of
the Group.
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The Board may in its absolute discretion specify such conditions
as it thinks fit when granting an Option to an Eligible
Participant (including, without limitation, as to any minimum
period an Option must have been held or the minimum period
of service or relationship with any member of the Group to
be achieved before an Option can be exercised (or any part
thereof), to the extent of the Option which can be exercised
at any material time, or any performance criteria which must
be satisfied by the Eligible Participant, the Company, and its
subsidiaries, before an Option may be exercised), provided that
such conditions shall not be inconsistent with any other terms
and conditions of the Scheme and the relevant requirements
under the applicable laws or the GEM Listing Rules.

The Option will be offered for acceptance for a period of ten
business days from the date on which the Option is granted.
The amount payable by the grantee to the Company on
acceptance of the offer shall be a nominal amount to be
determined by the Board. The subscription price in respect of
any Option shall, subject to any adjustments made pursuant
to the terms of the Scheme, be a price determined by the
Board and notified to each grantee and shall be at least the
highest of: (i) the closing price per share of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant of the Options, which must be a day on which
the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing in
securities (“Trading Day"); (ii) the average of the closing prices
per share of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five Trading Days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the Options; and (iii) the
nominal value of the shares of the Company on the date of
grant of the Options.
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The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all Options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at 6 January 2017 (the
“Listing Date”) (i.e. 2,000,000,000 shares) unless the
Company obtains a fresh approval from the shareholders.
The Company may seek approval of shareholders in general
meeting to renew the 10% limit above such that the total
number of shares in respect of which Options may be granted
by the Board under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company in issue shall not exceed 10% of
the total number of shares in issue as at the date of approval
of the renewed limit. The Company may grant Options to
specified participant(s) beyond the 10% limit set out above
provided that the Options granted in excess of such limit are
specifically approved by the shareholders in general meeting
and the participants are specifically identified by the Company
before such approval is sought. Notwithstanding the foregoing
and subject to the maximum entitlement of each Eligible
Participant, the maximum number of shares in respect of which
Options may be granted under the Scheme together with any
Options outstanding and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company in issue
shall not exceed 30% (or such higher percentage as may be
allowed under the GEM Listing Rules) of the total number of
shares in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the Options granted to each Eligible
Participant (including both exercised and outstanding Options
under the Scheme) in the twelve-month period expiring on
the offer date shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company, unless approval of the shareholders of the
Company has been obtained in accordance with the GEM
Listing Rules. Where Options are proposed to be granted to
a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
Director or any of their respective associates, and the proposed
grant of Options will, result in the total number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all Options already granted
and to be granted (including Options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the twelve— month period up to
and including the date of such grant representing in aggregate
over 0.1% of the issued share capital of the Company and
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000,
such grant must be approved by the shareholders of the
Company at general meeting in accordance with the GEM
Listing Rules.
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An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine save that such period shall not exceed ten years from
the date of acceptance of the offer subject to the provisions of
early termination thereof.

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 200,000,000 shares,
representing 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of this report. Since the adoption of the Scheme
and up to 31 March 2024, no Option was granted by the
Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Scheme as disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked
agreement that (i) will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or (ii) requires the Company to enter into any agreement
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares, was
entered into by the Company during the year ended 31 March
2024 or subsisted at the end of the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The principal corporate governance practices as adopted by
the Company are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, to the best of
knowledge of the Directors, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by
the Group that has a significant impact on the businesses and
operations of the Group.

Further discussion on the Group's compliance with laws and
regulations is contained in the "ESG Report 2024".
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY
STAKEHOLDERS

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
maintaining a highly environmental and social standard to
ensure sustainable development of its business. The Group has
complied with all relevant laws and regulations in relation to
its business including health and safety, workplace conditions,
employment and the environment. The Group understands
a better future depends on everyone's participation and
contribution. It has encouraged employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in environmental
and social activities which benefit the community as a whole.
The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees,
has enhanced cooperation with its suppliers and has provided
high quality products and services to its customers so as to
ensure sustainable development.

The ESG Report 2024 conducted by a professional third
party for the Reporting Period will be published separately in
compliance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has 288 (31 March 2023:
239) active securities accounts. The Group is committed to
establish and maintain long term and harmonious relationships
with its customers. In order to maintain the relationships with
customers, various means have been established to strengthen
the communications between the Group and the customers
including email, telephone and face-to-face meeting. In
addition, the Group will continue to expand the customer
base by utilising the network it has and referrals from existing
customers.

The Group had no supplier due to the nature of its principal
business activities.

DONATION

The Group did not make any charitable donations during the
year ended 31 March 2024 (31 March 2023: HK$30,000).
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the Reporting Period and
up to date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Fok Yuk Tong (Chairman)
Ms. Hsieh Ching Chun
Ms. Fok Kit Yee
Mr. Lee Ho Leung William
(appointed on 1 April 2023 and resigned on 2 January 2024)

Mr. Zhong Chu Jian
(resigned on 1 April 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Chan Hoi Wuen Katherine
Mr. Tong Wing Chi
Mr. Kwan Tsz Chun Sun

Pursuant to the Memorandum and Articles, Ms. Fok Kit Yee and
Mr. Tong Wing Chi will retire by rotation and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company (the “2024 AGM").

The executive Directors have entered into service contracts
with the Company for a term of three years and be renewable
automatically for successive terms of three years unless and
until the termination by either party thereto by giving not less
than three months’ prior written notice and are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Memorandum and Articles.

The independent non-executive Directors are appointed for
a term of two years and either party may terminate such
appointment at any time by giving at least one month prior
notice in writing to the other and are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Memorandum
and Articles.

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2024 AGM has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than the normal
statutory compensation.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to the requirement of rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of
this report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the Group is on the basis of the
qualifications and contributions of individuals to the Group
as well as the performance of the Group. The Company has
adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to eligible
participants, details of which are set out in the paragraph
headed “Share Option Scheme”.

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors with
reference to their experience, responsibilities, workload and
time devoted to the Group and performance of the Group.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, five highest paid
individuals and senior management by band are set out in
notes 15, 16 and 36 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the requirements of the Memorandum and Articles
of Association and subject to applicable laws, every Director is
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of duties of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto provided that such indemnity shall
not extend to any matter in respect of fraud or dishonesty
which may attach to the Director. Such permitted indemnity
provision is currently in force and has become effective during
the Reporting Period.

The Company did not arrange appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities during the Reporting Period and up to the
date of this report.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, the controlling shareholders of the
Company nor their respective close associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group during the year ended 31
March 2024 and up to the date of this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group’s related party transactions during the
year ended 31 March 2024 are disclosed in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements. None of such related party
transactions constitutes a connected transaction which is
subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement and/or
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) held by the Directors and chief executives of the
Company (the “Chief Executives”) which have to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or have to be entered in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise have to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules are as follows:
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Long position in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of
the Company

RAEXEEREEO.OIHBTHEERS
inkay oy

Approximate

Number of shares percentage of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest held shareholding
EEN4A B #EHE FrisiR M E RREBIA TS
Mr. Fok (Note) Interest of controlled corporation 1,199,640,000 59.98
B (W3 S EN

Ms. Hsieh (Note) Interest of controlled corporation 1,199,640,000 59.98
Epequnli (VD) S EEER

Ms. Fok Beneficial interest 360,000 0.02
TBut i i

Note: B EE

The issued share capital of Chance Wise Investments Limited (“CWIL")
is beneficially owned as to 30% by Mr. Fok and 70% by Ms. Hsieh
respectively. Mr. Fok is the spouse of Ms. Hsieh. Therefore, Mr. Fok and
Ms. Hsieh are deemed to be interested in the 1,199,640,000 shares of
the Company held by CWIL by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
Directors or Chief Executives had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
nor any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO) or which was required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or pursuant to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

So far as the Directors and the Chief Executives are aware,
as at 31 March 2024, other than the Directors and the Chief
Executives, the following person/corporation had or was
deemed or taken to have an interest and/or short position in
the shares or the underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which would be recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO,
or which would be, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or
more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the
Company or any other members of the Group:

Long position in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of
the Company

Name

T

Capacity/Nature of interest

515 HEEtE

EE
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5% A i -

RAEAESREEC.O1BTHEERS
HiFE

Approximate

Number of shares percentage of

CWIL (Note 1)
WARRE (1)

Beneficial interest

ik

Mega Wise Group Limited Beneficial interest
("MWGL") (Note 2)

EBEEARARE (EE EmfEn
(F¥5E2)

Dr. Lee Chun Pong Bruce
("Dr. Lee") (Note 2)

FiRAELT (FEL)
(My5E2)

RELZEED

Ms. Chow Nim Pui
("Ms. Chow") (Note 3)

Interest of spouse

Bzt TA&t)) oM m
(FF5E3)

Interest of a controlled corporation

held shareholding
FrfsiRin BB  RESOESLT
1,199,640,000 59.98
300,000,000 15.00
300,000,000 15.00
300,000,000 15.00
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Notes:

1. The issued share capital of CWIL is beneficially owned as to
30% by Mr. Fok and 70% by Ms. Hsieh respectively. Mr. Fok is
the spouse of Ms. Hsieh. Therefore, Mr. Fok and Ms. Hsieh are
deemed to be interested in the 1,199,640,000 shares of the
Company held by CWIL by virtue of the SFO.

2. MWGL is wholly-owned by Dr. Lee. Therefore, Dr. Lee is deemed
to be interested in the 300,000,000 shares of the Company held
by MWGL by virtue of the SFO.

3. Ms. Chow is the spouse of Dr. Lee. Therefore, Ms. Chow is
deemed to be interested in the 300,000,000 shares of the
Company held by Dr. Lee through MWGL under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors
were not aware of any person or corporation (other than
the Directors and the Chief Executives) who had any interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, which would have to be
recorded in the register referred to therein.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and its
Associated Corporations” and “Share Option Scheme” in this
report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2024 was
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or its parent company
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors and Chief
Executives (including their respective spouse and children
under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any of its associated corporation.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save for those disclosed under the section headed "Related
Party Transactions and Connected Transactions” above and
those disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, there was no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
which subsisted during or at the end of the year ended 31
March 2024 to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
or its parent company was a party and in which a Director
or a connected entity of that Director has or had, directly or
indirectly, a material interest.

Save as disclosed herein, during the Reporting Period, there
was no contract of significance entered into between the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and any of the controlling
shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group’s business were entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2024.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the best of the knowledge of the
Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient public
float of 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under
rule 11.23(7) of the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

On 14 April 2021, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB")
resigned as the auditor of the Company. Following the
resignation of HLB, the Board appointed ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited (“Zhonghui Anda”) as the new auditor of the
Company with effect from 14 April 2021 to fill the casual
vacancy.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHRS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2024 were audited by Zhonghui Anda
and a resolution will be proposed at 2024 AGM to re-appoint
Zhonghui Anda as the auditor of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in the
auditor of the Company during the past three years.

2024 AGM

The 2024 AGM is scheduled to be held on Wednesday,
25 September 2024. For determining the entitlement to attend
and vote at the 2024 AGM, the transfer books and register
of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
20 September 2024 to Wednesday, 25 September 2024, both
days inclusive. During such period, no share transfers will be
effected. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the
2024 AGM, all share transfer documents, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Union Registrars Limited
at Suites 3301-04, 33/F, Two Chinachem Exchange Square,
338 King's Road, North Point, Hong Kong for registration no
later than 4:00 p.m. on Thursday, 19 September 2024.

On behalf of the Board

Fok Yuk Tong
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

T g
ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

GAOYU FINANCE GROUP LIMITED

(Formerly known as PF Group Holdings Limited)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Gaoyu Finance Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 69 to 139, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

NVEER S Gl

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES

Refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of accounts receivables
for impairment. This impairment test is significant to our
audit because the balance of accounts receivables of
HK$152,466,000 as at 31 March 2024 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group's
impairment test involves application of judgement and is based
on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the Group’s procedures on granting credit limits
and credit periods to customers;

—  Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction history
with the customers;

- Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment;

—  Assessing ageing of the debts;

—  Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

- Checking subsequent settlements from the customers;
- Assessing the value of the collateral for the debts; and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the Group's exposure to credit
risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for accounts
receivables is supported by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all the information in
the Company’s annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's
website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards—setting/Standards/Our-
views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07374
Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
m R HthE IR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

=
'%;I_‘A

2024 2023
TERIME T =F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FAET FET
Revenue &
Commission income from securities dealing REBHXZ R
and brokerage services KA AR RY
BEBA 2,073 1,234
Fee and commission income from placing REE REH
and underwriting activities EBA N & &
AW A 2,436 396
Interest income from margin and REFREERENR
loan financing services MERFH
2 A 8,990 8,061
Supply chain financing HIEERE 8,430 2,024
Advisory and restructuring fee incomes B R EHBEWA 312 1,920
Asset management services BEEBERR 440 -
Others Hih 910 120
Total revenue U 7 23,591 13,755
Bank interest income RITHA 2 A 690 384
Fair value change on investments at AT EFTABEmZ
fair value through profit or loss KENATEEE 6,704 232
Other gains H i = 8 1,942 1,735
32,927 16,106
Commission expenses iR 9 (417) (416)
Depreciation expenses for MERZEN
property and equipment Tﬁ'ééﬁaﬂi'i (1,750) (1,766)
Depreciation expenses for right-of-use assets FRAEEEN
mEMX (1,486) (1,318)
Staff costs =%\ 10 (7,317) (8,021)
Other operating expenses H& S 11 (10,525) (8,594)
Impairment of assets E) 5)3215 12 (1,831) (2,322)
Finance costs %ﬁi\ 13 (129) (175)
Exchange gain/(loss) / (E518) 144 (3,023)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRIRENEF S (B518) 9,616 (9,529)
Income tax expense PRSI 14 (726) -
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive income/(loss) EREF, (B518) K&
for the year 2ENE (B8
"BEE 8,890 (9,529)
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive income/(loss) W & 75 FE(EE R
for the year attributable to: @A, ( ’Sjé) &%E
W, (B518) 4858
Owners of the company KABER AN 8,887 (9,514)
Non-controlling interests R R 3 (15)
8,890 (9,529)
HK cents HK cents
Profit/(Loss) per share SREN (58
Basic and diluted BERK#E 17 0.44 (0.48)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MEIRR

AS AT 31 MARCH 2024 WM-E-_ME=B=+—H

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK3$°000
Ay aE FET FAET
Non-current assets JERBEE
Property and equipment MERSRE 19 3,840 5,564
Right-of-use assets FREESE 20 7,146 1,464
Deposits placed with stock exchange and FEHREFRX B
clearing house KREEBTBTFER 21 605 630
Loan receivables ElE = 22 - 1,016
11,591 8,674
Current assets TMENE E
Accounts receivables FE WL BR R 23 152,466 108,882
Loan receivables FEUE =R 22 2,071 317
Rental and utility deposits MERKEERE 24 918 828
Prepayments and other receivables FET R IE R HoAh
FEWR IR 1,981 1,663
Investments at fair value through profit or loss BATFESFABTZ
K& 25 13,842 7,962
Due from non-controlling shareholders FEUWTIETE RS R SRR IE 26 600 -
Cash and bank balances: IRE R IRITHER -
Bank balance — house accounts R1TEsR—NEEERE 27 10,153 36,617
Cash held on behalf of customers RKEEFFHEWNIER: 27 35,669 32,212
217,700 188,481
Current liabilities mEaE
Accounts payables & BR R 28 37,715 35,780
Due to a related company e —BREE AR
I8 29 28,388 11,722
Other payables and accruals HMEMRIER
fEstE&R 30 1,423 2,878
Lease liabilities HEaRE 31 2,184 2,705
Current tax payables & BN HATR 18 726 =
70,436 53,085
Net current assets MBEEFRE 147,264 135,396
Total assets less current liabilities WEERRBAE 158,855 144,070
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SHMFIRIR

AS AT 31 MARCH 2024 WRZ_Z_WNFE=H=+—H

nv'F

2024 2023
—EBONE —TT=F
Notes HKS$'000  HK$'000
Kzt FHET FHET
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Lease liabilities HEaE 31 4,960 265
NET ASSETS BEFRE 153,895 143,805
Equity R
Share capital &N 32 20,000 20,000
Reserves HE 34 132,707 123,820
Equity attributable to owners of ETATEEA
the Company FEAGHE = 152,707 143,820
Non-controlling interests JEER T 1,188 (15)
TOTAL EQUITY HEmsEEa 153,895 143,805

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
21 June 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

EEFN _E_WNEAB-_+—BtE
BRBERE TR NINEERERESTEE

E .

Fok Yuk Tong

EXE
Director

)

Hsieh Ching Chun

Director

BF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FEEmEER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRR AR
Non-
Share Share Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserves profits Total interests Total

Bx  ROEE A RREN B EiERED ®t

HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000

FET FET FE7T FET FET FE7T FET
(Note 32)  (Note 34(z)  (Note 34(b))
Wzt32)  (Wats4e)  (Was4)

t 1 April 2022 RIEZ"EME-H 20,000 43,229 9,762 75,343 153,334 - 153,334
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRZAREEE - - - (9,514) (9,514) (15) (9,529)
At 31 March 2023 RZBZZE

=A=+-H 20,000 48,229 9,762 65,829 143,820 (15) 143,805
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=FEmB-AH 20,000 48,229 9,762 65,829 143,820 (15) 143,805
Total comprehensive loss for the year ERRERRLEE - - - 8,887 8,887 3 8,890
Contribution by non-controlling WEAREERRELIE
shareholders of a subsidiary - - - - - 1,200 1,200
At 31 March 2024 RIZZMmE
=ZB=t+-H 20,000 48,229 9,762 74,116 152,707 1,188 153,895
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
SHERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HE_ZE_INF=B=+—HLIFE

.»71'\

2024 2023
ZEINE ZET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES EEBESHNIRESRE
Profit/(loss) before tax BRI ATRF, (B518) 9,616 (9,529)
Adjustments for: MU TIEERE :
Bank interest income IRITH BULA (690) (384)
Finance costs RLE A A 129 175
Depreciation of property and equipment MERZEITE 1,750 1,766
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 1,486 1,318
Loss on disposal of property and equipment HEMERZENBER - 6
Fair value gain on investments at fair value through BRATEFAERZ
profit or loss KENATERT (6,704) (232)
Impairment of assets BEERE 1,831 2,322
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital change E.Lﬁ% ABNRTRVASE
wmFl, (E518) 7.418 (4,558)
Change in bank balances — client accounts fﬁﬁ EarEs-xRRE (3,457) 4,833
Change in rental and utility deposits MERKEEREE (90) 24
Change in accounts receivable JFE W BR =h 1 Ef (45,415) (60,510)
Change in prepayments and other receivables TERIE R H AR UL
RIBEE) (293) 553
Change in loan receivables %H&fﬂ\“@] (738) 345
Change in accounts payable FE 1T BR Fr it 1,935 (2,384)
Change in other payables and accruals H S R IE S FE 5T
& ) (1,812) 435
Cash used in operating activities KEEHPARSE (42,452)  (61,262)
Bank interest received BUIRITHIE 690 384
Net cash used in operating activities REEFFFAREEEE (41,762) (60,878)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETBEENHERE
Purchase of investments at fair value through BERATESAEBRZ
profit or loss KE = (7,730)
Proceeds from disposals of investments at HERATEFAERZ
fair value through profit or loss KREMPTERIE 824 -
Purchases of property and equipment BEYMERSRE (26) (56)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REZBEE, FrA)
investing activities REFE 798 (7,786)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

2024 2023
TEINF CFT=F
HKS$'000  HK$'000
FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REIFHEENRERE
Advance from a related company —FERB A 2 BN 16,666 11,722
Contribution by non-controlling shareholders of MEABIIFIERKRREE
a subsidiary 600 -
Interest paid BFE - (22)
Repayment of lease liabilities & i%ﬂ%%ﬁ (2,766) (2,763)
Net cash generated from financing activities MEESEENREFEE 14,500 8,937
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IR RIRSLEMiR L BEE (26,464) (59,727)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT EVRERREELEY
BEGINNING OF YEAR 36,617 96,344
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR HFFXREERELZEY 10,153 36,617
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERREEEYMDH
Bank balance — house accounts IR1ITEsr— A BERE 10,153 36,617
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R TSR MIE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HE_ZE_INF=B=+—HLIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Gaoyu Finance Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability. The
address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The address of its principal place of business
is Room 4409, 44/F COSCO Tower, 183 Queen’s Road
Central, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares were listed on
the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 6 January 2017.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the Company’s
extraordinary general meeting held on 7 December 2023,
the English name of the Company has been changed from
“PF Group Holdings Limited” to “Gaoyu Finance Group
Limited” and the Chinese name "B ERERBRAR"
has been adopted as the new dual foreign name of the
Company. Subsequently, the Certificate of Incorporation
on Change of Name and the Certificate of Registration
of Alternation of Name of Registered Non-Hong Kong
Company were issued by the Registrar of Companies in
the Cayman Islands and the Registrar of Companies in
Hong Kong on 7 December 2023 and 21 December 2023
respectively to certify the change of the Company’s name.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 38
to the consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are
relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting
year beginning on 1 April 2023. HKFRSs comprise
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS");
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS"); and
Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised
HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to the
Group's accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported
for the current year and prior years.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group
has already commenced an assessment of the impact of
these new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position
to state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would
have a material impact on its results of operations and
financial position.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of investments at their fair values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to these consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below.

Gaoyu Finance Group Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R TSR MIE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HE_ZE_INF=B=+—HLIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made
up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The
Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the
entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by
other parties, to determine whether it has control. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has
the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date the control ceases.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the
Company. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated
statement of changes in equity within equity. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between the non-
controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners
of the Company.

Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group ‘s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
Company ‘s functional and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using
the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at
the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised
in profit or loss.

Gaoyu Finance Group Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s

(c)

financial statements (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
values in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different
from the Company's presentation currency are
translated into the Company’s presentation currency
as follows:

(i)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

(iii) All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in the foreign currency translation
reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign
entities and of borrowings are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR RMGE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during
the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Furniture and equipment  20%

Leasehold improvement Shorter of 20% and over the
lease terms

Motor vehicles 20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets
are available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is
calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Land and buildings over the lease term of 1 year
to 3 years

Office equipment over the lease term of 5 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined,
or otherwise the Group's incremental borrowing rate.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease
liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-
term leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12
months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below
US$5,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$39,000).

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets but has not retained control on
the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received is recognised in profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value,
plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of investments at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost; and

—  Investments at fair value through profit or loss

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including accounts and other
receivables) are classified under this category if they
satisfy both of the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method less loss
allowance for expected credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sR e M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Investments at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets are classified under this category
if they do not meet the conditions to be
measured at amortised cost and the conditions
of debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income unless the Group designates
an equity investment that is not held for trading as
at fair value through other comprehensive income
on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently measured at fair value with any
gains or losses arising from changes in fair values
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss are net of
any interest income and dividend income. Interest
income and dividend income are recognised in profit
or loss.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected
credit losses are the weighted average of credit losses
with the respective risks of a default occurring as the
weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of that
financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”)
for accounts receivable, or if the credit risk on that
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR RMGE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses
(Continued)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on
a financial instrument (other than accounts receivable)
has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that represents the expected credit
losses that result from default events on that financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at
bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of
change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set
out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sR e M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Accounts and other payables

Accounts and other payables are initially stated at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer with reference to the
customary business practices and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised product or service exceeds
one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over
time if:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

—  the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

—  the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.
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SRR M

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue
is recognised by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the product or service.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to
each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or
service underlying each performance obligation is
determined at contract inception. It represents the price
at which the Group would sell a promised good or service
separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price
is not directly observable, the Group estimates it using
appropriate techniques such that the transaction price
ultimately allocated to any performance obligation reflects
the amount of consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised
goods or services to the customer.

Commission income from securities dealing and
brokerage services

Securities brokerage commission income is recognised on
trade date basis when the relevant sale or purchase of
securities transactions is executed.

Fee and commission income from placing and
underwriting services and professional service fee
income

Placing and underwriting commission and professional
service fee income are recognised in accordance with the
terms of the underlying agreement or deal mandate when
the relevant significant act has been completed.

Advisory and structuring fee incomes

Fee income from advisory and structuring services is
recognised as income in accordance with the terms of
the agreements on the signature date. Advisory and
structuring fee income are charged at a fixed amount by
the agreement of each client.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sR e M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Fee income from asset management services

Fee income from asset management services is
recognised as income in accordance with the terms of the
agreements on the valuation date. Asset management
fee income are charged at a fixed amount and a fixed
percentage per month of the net asset value of the
managed accounts under management of the Group.
Investment advisory fee income is charged at a fixed
amount per month for managing the investment portfolio
of each client.

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

Employee benefits
(a) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(b) Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (“MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR RMGE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs and involves the
payment of termination benefits.

Government subsidies

A government subsidy is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be
received.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the
performance of the Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of productions processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R M GE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(ii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Company are members
of the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group. If
the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Company or to a
parent of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR RMGE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its assets except investments and
receivables, to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-
generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sR e M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR e M IRRMGE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4, HEHAFEERZNEERE
UNCERTAINTY
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other TR EBRBRARKNEE
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the BERESHTIEERZNEMEE
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing KR LE R RREXGEEBFHT
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets —THFEEEKREBENREELS
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed R ZEEH KIRAEAIE KRR
below.
Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts RIRER R {ERESTE
The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful REBERBEKET B EBIRE
debts based on assessments of the recoverability of the R ELAN R SGRRTE RY BT U [B] 1 2 5T
accounts receivables, deposits, loan receivables and other (BESEBEANETEERBE
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the BIWREE BE) » BLoRIBERIEH BB RS
past collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise B-BREEHRBEREE  BRERH
where events or changes in circumstances indicate that Bl AE R AN [E] > BI IR B E o HERR R
the balances may not be collectible. The identification of IRER T EF A A E R (A5 o B RA
bad and doubtful debts requires the use of judgement RENRERGS  BRAZEEENGE
and estimates. Where the actual result is different from SEENEE HEBEER EE-
the original estimate, such difference will impact the FE UL & R e EL A B WSURRIE LU K R BR
carrying value of the accounts receivable, deposits, loan HEETE-
receivables and other receivables and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate has been
changed.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5. EMTIA
Categories of financial instruments EMIAZ7EE
2024 2023
ZEIME =4
HK$'000 HK$°000
FAET FAET
Financial assets: ETMEE
Investments at fair value through profit or loss AT EFABG ZRE 13,842 7,962
Financial assets at amortised cost (including cash IR SE AR SMEE
and cash equivalents) (BERERIREFEY) 204,461 181,882
Financial liabilities: EHaE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HEENATR e EaE 73,574 52,619
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sR e M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's risk management objectives are to achieve
a proper balance between risks and yield, minimise
the adverse impacts of risks on the Group’s operating
performance, and maximise the benefits of the
shareholders. Based on these risk management objectives,
the Group’s basic risk management strategy is to identify
and analyse the various risks the Group is exposed to, and
to establish an appropriate tolerance for risk management
practice, so as to monitor, notify and respond to the
risks regularly and effectively and to control risks at an
acceptable level.

The risks the Group is exposed to in its daily operating
activities mainly include market risk (including currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group has established policies and procedures accordingly
to identify and analyse the risks. The Group has set up
appropriate risk indicators, risk limits, risk policies and
internal control process. The Group also manages risks
with information system on a continuous monitoring
basis.

There has been no change to the types of the Group's
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner
in which it manages and measures the risks.

The management of the Group manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

$RITH &
SRHEAKSERERKE
FEENRERRSENEESHER
S S BEEN e &
AR A EECSEENEEEE
BRAR B BRAR KT EREMFI R B A
Lo ERZERKEERE A&
[ BR 1 0 B A SR B 2 R B A DA
AEEFEENSEAR BRI AR
EREANBEESRARAZELST T
HAY S R 1T W~ SRS AT
FEY BRI A SN SE
pqo

AEBEAEKEEHR I RHIA
SEBAETERR BEEEER
RMKRRER) - EERBRABES
BBz - A EH B B E AR BRI BUER R A2
Fe AR B D AT R - A E B E R TE
BEERREEIER R RREE  BK
RRABIERRIZ  AEETRBE
MamRFEREESAEERR

AEERSHMT RARNERELY
REEBURFBRERRNAR
At (o

AEEEEBEERGERILERR
LURE R s B B & 15 I

—ENFEFR . SHEHEEFRAE

95



96

S EHmRMEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Market risk

Interest rate risk

At the end of the reporting period, the cash flow interest
rate risk mainly arises from the Group’s bank balances
(house account), which are financial instruments carried
at variable interest rates. Based on the year end interest
bearing bank balances (house account), if interest rates
had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s profit before
tax for the financial year ended 31 March 2024 would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$51,000 (2023:
approximately HK$183,000).

The due to a related company bear interest at fixed
interest rates and therefore are subject to fair value
interest rate risk.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk of loss due to adverse movements
in foreign exchange rates relating to foreign currency
deposits with banks, due to a related company and
accounts receivables. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
foreign currency denominated monetary assets at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

$RITH &
T 15 B &
VIE S}

ﬁ\iﬁiﬁﬂﬂi REBIRTHER (AT
KPR (BRIFFFEFENEHMT

B EERERENERAR - ERF
EE FFERITER (RBEKRE) »HF
XA A/ THESOBER  EFRFAE
Htho@RKXAEBR T AEEE

EE_NME=ZBA=+—HILEHFHK
FEMNMRRENEA B EM, B8
51,000 75 (ZZE =4 : 49183,000
BT o

& — R RA B A BV IR IZ B E F) R
TR EILAmEEA FENRERE -

(:m/_l Eﬁ
EfRERARRAINERITER  BY
— & B Bk 2 B) AR IE R FE W BR AR B Rl
BY 51 B BB = A F) B2 B P BBV 5 15 AL
oMM EHR > AEBELUSNESHE
EREENKREENT

2024 2023
e 1 - S

Foreign currency  HK$'000 HK$°000

FET FAET

Bank balances IR1TAEER UsD =7t 595 8,741
RMB A FRH#& 31 11

Due to a related company FE — R A B UsD =7t 28,388 11,722
Accounts receivables FE U BR = Ush =7t 115,150 38,994

As USD is pegged to HK$, the Group does not expect any
significant movement in the USD/HK$ exchange rate. The
following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change
in the RMB exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

$RTH @
Hin R (2

EiEmEg (&

Decrease/increase
in loss before tax
PRI ATES IR L 15N

2024 2023
“EME CTC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000

As at 31 March R=B=+—H FAET FAET
If Hong Kong Dollar strengthens/weakens AT ARE
against RMB by 5% &2 E5% 2 1

Credit risk and impairment assessment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
accounts receivables, loan receivables, other receivables,
due from non-controlling shareholders and cash and
bank balances as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position. As at 31 March 2024, the Group
has concentration of credit risk on accounts receivable
as 75.53% (2023: 93.38%) of the total accounts
receivable was due from top five largest customers and
HK$9,614,000 (2023: nil) of the total accounts receivable
was due from a clearing house.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected credit losses
provision for all accounts receivable relate to revenue from
contracts with customers under HKFRS 15. To measure
the expected credit losses, accounts receivable has been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics. The
Group has performed historical analysis and identified
the key economic variables impacting credit risk and
expected credit losses. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking macroeconomic data
(for example, the economic growth rates which reflect
the general economic conditions of the industry in which
debtors operate).

15 BBz R o (B 571
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SHBBINESEERR  TVR
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FEURE =~ HAthFEURTRIE ~ FEUR JE 4%
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EEMEKRERMEREREER
ot R EW A AR R KRG
FE UL BE AR ZER75.53% (2=
£ :93.38%) » REWIRTAEZED
9,614,000t (TE=F &) A
FEW— R4S EFTAR TN
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HERFIFEREN AR EE BB
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR RMGE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group makes
periodic assessment on the recoverability of the accounts
receivables by measurement of expected credit losses.
The management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to all clients
including cash and margin clients. This ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. Cash
clients are required to place deposits as prescribed by the
Group's credit policy before execution of any purchase
transaction. Receivables due from cash clients are
normally due within two trading days after the trade date.
Because of the prescribed deposit requirements and the
short settlement period involved, credit risk arising from
the accounts receivables from cash clients is considered
insignificant. In addition, the Group holds collateral
to cover its credit risks associated with its accounts
receivables from margin clients, loan financing clients and
supply chain financing clients as mentioned in Note 23
and reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
accounts receivables at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The Group assesses the credit
losses of its margin clients, loan financing clients and
supply chain financing clients using the general approach
and assessment individually. The Group assesses whether
the credit risk of the accounts receivables from margin
clients, loan financing clients and supply chain financing
clients have increased significantly since their initial
recognition, and apply a three-stage impairment model
to calculate their expected credit losses, the management
assesses impairment loss using the risk parameter
modelling approach that incorporates key measurement
parameters, including probability of default, loss given
default and exposure at default, with the consideration of
forward-looking information. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced. Generally, accounts receivables
are written off if past due for more than two years.
Other than concentration of credit risk on accounts
receivables, the Group does not have any other significant
concentration of credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R TSR MIE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HE_ZE_INF=B=+—HLIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the collaterals and
the Group's exposure to credit risk arising from accounts
receivables are disclosed in Note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group assesses the credit losses of its loan receivables
clients using the general approach and assessment
individually. The Group assesses whether the credit
risk of the loan receivables have increased significantly
since their initial recognition, and apply a three-stage
impairment model to calculate their expected credit
losses, the management assesses impairment loss using
the risk parameter modelling approach that incorporates
key measurement parameters, including probability of
default, loss given default and exposure at default, with
the consideration of forward-looking information. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts
of other receivables and deposits were approximately of
HK$2,397,000 (2023: approximately of HK$2,838,000).
The credit risks on these balances are low because the
counterparties have a low risk of default and do not have
any past-due amounts and concluded the expected credit
losses on these balances are insignificant at 12-month
expected credit losses for both years.

Due from non-controlling shareholders are closely
monitored by directors of the Company.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group limits its
exposure to credit risk by placing deposits with several
banks with high credit rating. The credit risk on liquid
funds and accounts receivable from clearing house is
limited because the counterparties are bank and a clearing
house with high credit ratings assigned by international
credit rating agencies. Other than concentration of credit
risk on liquid funds and accounts receivable, the Group
does not have any other significant concentration of credit
risk.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Liquidity risk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

5. *MTH®

mi5 R (8
TEEZ /R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deems adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The tables below present the cash flows payable by the
Group within the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period. The amounts disclosed
in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash
flows. The tables include both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest rates are floating, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the

BERPETARE AEERER
ERRESEBYURFEEREEE
BRBTROKT  URTEBER

EERHES ALV RS RE K
PR E-

‘F%%%§'JZIK$@B"$E¢HHEEE%‘F%
HNENFAHENIREESRE  FRATHE
NEBEAGHNRBIRZIRERET
REENERAETREME o HH] X
T AR AR IR SRR S
REVFREtE o

end of the reporting period.

Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  or less than Between Between undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year 1to2years  2to5years cash flow amount
i RERY KRR
TR E 1ER 1528 1B RERBLE RafE
% HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FEn FEn FET FET FET
At 31 March 2024 RZBZME
=B=+-H

Other payables HthPEIHE - 246 - - 246 246
Dividends payables BT & - 81 - - 81 81
Due to a related company FER—MR A BB - 28,388 - - 28,388 28,388

Accounts payable arising from the EHFRBEBEEH

business of dealing in securities:  FE{JERFN :
- Cash clients -ReEF - 35,061 - - 35,061 35,061
~ Margin clients —REEER - 2,654 - - 2,654 2,654
Lease liabilities HEBE 5.38 2,540 2,529 2,750 7,819 7,144
68,970 2,529 2,750 74,249 73,574
At 31 March 2023 K-g-=f
ZA=+-H

Other payables HARE A FIE - 2,07 - - 2,071 2,07
Dividends payables BT S - 76 - - 76 76
Due to a related company B —E M ARNE = 11,722 = = 11,722 11,722

Accounts payable arising from the EHFRBEBEEH

business of dealing in securities:  FE{ERFN :

- Clearing house —EEm - 2,544 - - 2,544 2,544
- Cash dlients -ReRp - 31,155 - - 31,155 31,155
- Margin clients —-REEER - 2,081 - - 2,081 2,081
Lease liabilities HE&aE 442 2,766 242 27 3,035 2,970
52,415 242 27 52,684 52,619
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities (including derivative instruments) with
standard terms and conditions and traded on active
liquid markets are determined with reference to
quoted market bid prices and ask prices respectively;

the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (including derivative instruments) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis using prices or rates from observable current
market transactions as input; and

the fair values of derivative instruments are
calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices
are not available, a discounted cash flow analysis
is performed using the applicable yield curve for
the duration of the instruments for non-optional
derivatives, and option pricing models for optional
derivatives.

Except as detailed in the following tables, the directors
consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

6.

ATEHE
THMEEREBREBEHNAFTEZEU
THREE

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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EEEAZRERRFETRE
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ZHERAERFEREABE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

el 1

AT ER R E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

6.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 6. NFEFE @

Fair value measurements recognised in the MR EMBRARERINAFEE

consolidated statement of financial position T2

The following table provides an analysis of financial TREERI S EIBBIZRAFES

instruments that are measured subsequent to initial S REBEATEVEZREEENASE

recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based —EF=HNEMITAEDNT

on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

() Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived () B—RAFEFENDRBEE
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for miE LEAKEENEENRE
identical assets or liabilities; (CREKHRE) ;

(i) Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived (il B_HRLFESTELREBEE
from inputs, other than quoted prices included HEENERE BIER) EE
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or (BVRBER) oI R A #E
liability, either directly (i.e. prices) or indirectly (i.e. FEEF—REENRSB) ;
derived from prices); and Y54

(i) Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived (i) BZHMLAFESTELREEHE
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the F& (BIELEERTEETS
asset or liability that are not based on observable FENEENEBENH AR
market data (unobservable inputs). (FRIEZRH AEBE) o

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy as at 31 RZE_NFE=HA=+—HWAF

March 2024 BEERKFIRE

Fair value
measurements
using:
EREUTEHR
HAFEEE:
Level 1
B—R
HK$'000
FHET
Financial assets EMEE
Investments at fair value through profit or loss BAFEFABRNEE
Listed securities in Hong Kong B LWES 13,842

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during
the years.

Gaoyu Finance Group Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 6. RFEFE @
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy as at 31 March RIEZ=F=A=+—HWA¥F
2023 BREHRKTEHE
Fair value
measurements
using:
FERUTER
NAFEEE !
Level 1
F—R
HK$'000
FAET
Financial assets ETMEE
Investments at fair value through profit or loss BATESABRNRE
Listed securities in Hong Kong EAELHES 7,962
There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during RBEFER S—H F_MEE
the years. =Rz B EER o
REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WERDHBER

The chief operating decision maker ("CODM?") of
the Group, being the executive directors and senior
management of the Group, regularly review revenue
analysis by major services to make decisions about
resource allocation. No discrete financial information
other than revenue is regularly provided to the CODM.
The management assesses the performance of the
Group based on the revenue and profit as presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

No segment assets or liabilities is presented as the CODM
does not review segment assets and liabilities.

AEETZEERRAN (XREE
REN) A EEANTEERSR
EEE RIZRBEHER R
DT ERE IR D ECR R © Br i m
o WEBIMBENEHRERTE
BEERRA -BEERBEGSET
REMEZE W@ R 25U & m
FEHEAERBRIE

HRETEEERRALEZRD M
EERBR BRUEZ2IDBEENR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEhknHEE @

(Continued)

Revenue from major services FERBAAFR=

The Group provides seven types of services: AEBERMBCERT -

(a) securities dealing and brokerage services, which (a) BERGRBLRT > TEE
primarily generate commission on securities dealing; TESRZHE;

(b) placing and underwriting services, which primarily (b) ECERBIHERS  FEELEK
generate fee and commission from equity and debt BRmREHESIE RBHE
securities placing and underwriting; & RAE ;

() financing services, including securities and IPO (0 MERF @Ef#FsFkaxrn
margin financing, loan financing and money lending, HERRETME - EXMmE
which generate interest income from margin and E’zﬁﬂ‘ifi“)“ P EERBREE
loan financing clients; ERRETRMNAEIA ;

(d) supply chain financing is an alternative financial (d) HEEMEAS " BEREESR
service under the margin and loan financing EXRmMEUKRMBEE T EMR
and money lending which provides supply chain E’J%*ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁk #HEEFEAY3C
financing and logistic services to wholesalers for (B BAREFHER E
their trading businesses in respect of 3C (computer, mEBZERREHEEMRER
communication and consumer electronics) products; YRR

(e) asset management services, which primarily generate () BEEBERF FEELEIE
management fee and performance fee; BERRRE ;

(f)  advisory and restructuring services, which provide (f) HBHAREHARYE  AEHREM
professional advice and money lending for HxERKMVHEEE ;
restructuring;

(9) trust services, which provide professional trust (90 EERF > A FERFEM
services to its high net worth clients, in order to fulfil EEGFEERT UWnBREN
their needs of asset protection, tax planning and BEERE - MBRIANETE
wealth management; and KR

(h) other services, which primarily generate fee income (hy HEMRHTF FEELRBIRRM

(such as agency fee, professional service fee, loan
commitment fees and referral fees) from other
services provided.

Revenue represents the aggregate of the amounts
received and receivable from third parties, income from
securities dealing and brokerage services, placing and
underwriting services and advisory and restructuring

services.

Revenue recognised during the years are as

followings:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEKRDEER @)
(Continued)

Revenue from major services (Continued)

FERBAAISRE (@
REER GRS

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers:
2024 2023
ZEIME —TT=F
HK$'000 HK$°000
FAET FET
Securities dealing and brokerage services BHR P R AR 2,073 1,234
Placing and underwriting services o & & 6885 IR 75 2,436 396
Professional service fee income EERBERA 910 120
Advisory and restructuring fee incomes B R EHBWA 312 1,920
Asset management services EEEERE 440 -
Revenue from contracts with customers BRI E 6,171 3,670
Revenue from other sources 7k B H fth 2R B Y =
Interest income from margin financing services  {R:5 &R ERFFHF) B A 8,061 6,104
Interest income from loan financing and BERmMEKRMBEEN
money lending FEWA 929 1,957
Interest income from supply chain financing HEERMENH WA 8,430 2,024
17,420 10,085
23,591 13,755
Timing of revenue recognition: U AR
A point in time RiEE R 2, 6,171 3,670
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEknHER @

(Continued)
Geographical information & &k
The Group’s non-current assets are located in Hong Kong. AEBNERHEEMUNRT B K&
The Group operates in Hong Kong and its revenue is EREERE HINmREBE BN E
derived from its operations in Hong Kong. 5o
Information about major customers FEXREH
Revenue from major customers contributing over 10% of HAREEERTBEI0%NTIEE
the total revenue of the Group are as follows: PWREWT :

2024 2023

—EImFE 2=
HK$°000  HK$'000

FET FET
Customer A ZEA 6,333 2,024
Customer B ZFEB 6,113 4,715
8. OTHER GAINS 8. Hfitkz=

2024 2023

—EImE 2=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Government subsidies BUAT f EG 1,092 360
Settlement and handling fee HERTFES - 318
Sundry income TS U A 850 1,057
1,942 1,735

9. COMMISSION EXPENSES 9. AEMX%

2024 2023

ZEImE 2=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Commission to account executives IR FEEEFENEE 288 416
Commission to others SRFEHMATHEE 129 =
417 416
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

11.

10. STAFF COSTS 10. ETRA
2024 2023
ZERImE =8
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Salaries and bonus ¥ RAEAL 5,244 5,407
Contributions to Mandatory Provident Fund BEIERATEEHENR 174 214
Directors’ emoluments (Note 15) EEME (MF5E15)
— Fees —E 1,833 2,352
— Contributions to Mandatory Provident Fund — R EIERTEEER 66 48
7,317 8,021
OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 1. HtESHX
2024 2023
—EME T4
HK$'000 HK$°000
FAET FAET
Auditor's remuneration ZELEM BN &
— audit services —IZE R 680 600
— non-audit services — I L AR 6 6
Bank charges RITUE 44 39
Donations E=Ed - 30
Entertainment expenses EBIBERX 169 132
Legal and professional fee FEREXER 6,044 2,770
Office management charges WMAEEEER 531 300
Expenses related to short-term leases BIGHATE E AR - 1,958
Rates = 143 152
Office supplies and utilities MAAmRKEE 291 330
Software and stock information expenses R REMMmIZERER
53 1,630 1,860
Travelling and transportation expenses ERRERHMS 178 =
Others Hith 809 417
10,525 8,594

"B NEFR .

EHREMEEFRAH

107



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

12. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS 12. EERE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Impairment loss on account receivables FE U BR FURL B 5 18 1,831 2,322
13. FINANCE COSTS 13. REM A
2024 2023
—E_mE —E-=F
HKS$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on due to a related company FE— MR B A Bl B F] B - 22
Interest on lease liabilities HEsEHE 129 153
219 175
14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 14. FRIEMEAZ
2024 2023
“EINE —T=F
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET
Current tax: BPHARRIE -
Hong Kong Profits Tax BENER 726 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sR e M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

4. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate
of 8.25% on assessable profits up to HK$2,000,000
and 16.5% on any part of assessable profits over
HK$2,000,000 for the year end 31 March 2024. No
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the
year ended 31 March 2023 as the Group did not generate
any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during that
year.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to profit/
(loss) before tax per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

14. FREKREX @

BE_Z_NE=ZR=+—HL%E
E> AEBEEMAKELE2,000,000%8
TTHIFER IR A A IR TR Z8.25% K ph it
%ﬁz,ooo,ooo%ﬁE’Mﬂﬂhﬁ%%ﬁiﬁﬁu

DEME16.5%TIEEBFIER
EEH"?éSZ—‘Kiv__fE BA=+—8H
tEEREAEBTENREBELET
AIERREF WBARNZEEMS
B ERTHREE o

FRMNBE LA HRE B Kk HEAM
2EWmRNBRATNET, (BE)
HERWT

2024 2023
—EMFE —E2T=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Profit/(loss) before tax BrERATEF (B518) 9,616 (9,529)
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% 2 &EBFIEHRRE16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) (ZEZT=%F1:16.5%)
STEMIRIEA 1,587 (1,572)
Tax relief of 8.25% on first HK$2 million 2,000,000 T FEZRR
assessable profit A EY8.25% IR T (165) -
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax AONRESZNRBEE
purpose 812 1,241
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose  HBERRUA BN E (1,433) (123)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised ZRHERE B = ZEAI IR 75 52 & 187 382
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not FRIRMERRIERFEERN
previously recognised MBTE (276) (47)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERRIEBENRFZE 14 119
Tax expenses for the years FRIRNIEHZ 726 -

“ENFEFR . SHSREERRA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sRE M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

4. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had no
material deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from
deductible or taxable temporary differences.

At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group has
estimated tax losses of approximately HK$19,667,000
(2023: HK$22,029,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of remaining HK$3,295,000 (2023:
HK$3,635,000) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. The tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

15. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2024

14. FREKRHEX @

15.

N ZE_MFERIZEI=F=A
=+—H > AEBEWE TR ER
MEREZBEEENERNEERES
ExaEe

RREFBR AEBGBFEL
19,667,000 c (ZE =% :
22m9mm%m)Mﬁ?ﬁﬂaT£$
R EFIEH o SRR AR R
] TERME o i B TR EY 3,295,000
BT (T2 =4 3,635,000%7T)

RIRIEIRIBE E - 1B BB 0]
HIRAR4EE o

EEME
BE_T_NME=A=+—HL
FE

Contributions
to Mandatory

Director fees Salaries Provident Fund Total
E=g Lk
£tk & AREHR st
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET FET FET
Name %4
Executive director: WITESE:
Mr. Fok Yuk Tong EXEL4E 782 - 18 800
Ms. Fok Kit Yee EZEYT 240 - 12 252
Ms. Hsieh Ching Chun HEMZ L 360 - 18 378
Mr. Lee, Ho Leung William (Note i) Z3& R %4 (M) 91 200 18 1,009
Independent non-executive ~ BIFHITEE:
director:
Ms. Chan, Katherine Hoi Wuen — [ESliE &+ 120 = = 120
Mr. Tong Wing Chi BABRE 120 - - 120
Mr. Kwan Tsz Chun Sun BFBELLE 120 = = 120
Total for 2024 ZENEEE 1,833 900 66 2,799
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R M GE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

15. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 15. EFM=E @
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BHE_Z_-_F=BA=+—HILtF
E
Contributions
to Mandatory
Director fees  Provident Fund Total
SR
Yk NEEHA st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Name a3
Executive director: HITES:
Mr. Fok Yuk Tong EEE5E 1,272 18 1,290
Ms. Fok Kit Yee EZEZL 240 12 252
Ms. Hsieh Ching Chun HEMUL 360 18 378
Mr. Zhong Chu Jian (Note ii) ERRAE (M) 120 - 120
Independent non-executive director: BIUERITES :
Ms. Chan, Katherine Hoi Wuen BEEL L 120 - 120
Mr. Tong Wing Chi BxBRE 120 - 120
Mr. Kwan Tsz Chun Sun AFBLE 120 - 120
Total for 2023 b Jeg$: 3 2,352 48 2,400
Notes: sk :
() Mr. Lee, Ho Leung William was appointed as an executive () ZEBEEN-_E_=FIA—H
director on 1 April 2023 and resigned on 2 January 2024. BZARPTESIN T _NF
—BZH#E-
(i) Mr. Zhong Chu Jian was resigned on 1 April 2023. iy BEPREGEN_EBE_=FH—H
FHE o
The directors’ emoluments shown above were for their UEMmTESEMEDMEEEITEAR
services as directors of the Company and subsidiaries B RAREINBABNESMIEL
undertaking of the Company.
The bonuses are discretionary and determined with TRATL2EARAEREGEREANRKE
reference to the Group’s and the individuals' performance. BIBERE
During the year ended 31 March 2024, no directors of the BE_ S _WNE-ZHBA=+—HLE
Company waived any emoluments and no emoluments E BB AABSESTNEEMME
were paid by the Group to any of the directors of the MAEBETERARAERNESES
Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the NLEAR T’ﬁ?’;ﬁﬁﬁifﬂﬂk$$lﬂ’]
Group or as compensation for loss of office (2023: nil). RENFRBERBE (CE2=
")
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sRE M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

16. HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 16.

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2023: two) out of the five individuals were
directors of the Company whose emoluments are included
in the disclosures in Note 15 above. The emolument
of the remaining two (2023: three) individuals were as

Ram AL

AEBRERSHALTH =8 (Z
T -F MR ARARES  H
S EXHIEE15HIRE c HEgma A
+(CE=F:=4) ST

follows:
2024 2023
TEINE T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Basic salaries and allowances B AR F & KRR 1,080 1,899
Contribution to retirement benefit schemes ROKEFIFHEIH 33 42
1,113 1,941

The number of the highest paid individuals (excluding
directors) whose emoluments were within the following
band:

MENFUTHEBENERSH AL (F
BEES) ABUOT:

Number of employees

BE AR

2024 2023
—TEZNE —E-=F

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

Z%1,000,000% 7T 2 2
1,000,001 8L E

1,500,000 7T - 1

Bonuses are discretionary and determined with reference
to the Group's and the individuals’ performance. No
emoluments have been paid to these individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the year.

Gaoyu Finance Group Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17.

18.

sR e M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

PROFIT/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic profit/(loss) per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

17. 882

i, (E518)
AABHEANEIEGRELHF/
(#538) ToiRIE T O BB 5t -

2024 2023
—E-mE —S-=&
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
Profit/(loss) A (B548)
Profit/(loss) for the purpose of calculating basic ~ stE&REARIZ (B8)
income/(loss) per share: FrAmA (B518) -
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to RABVHEB ANEEER
owners of the Company wmA (E518) 8,887 (9,514)
2024 2023
‘000 ‘000
Fh Fie
Number of shares R & H
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for stE&ERE AEIEAT A
the purpose of calculating basic loss per share TR NIEF 8 2,000,000 2,000,000

The calculation of basic profit/(loss) per share is based on
the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$8,887,000 (2023: loss approximately
HK$9,514,000) and the weighted average number of
2,000,000,000 ordinary shares in issue for both years.

Diluted profit/(loss) per share were same as the basic
profit/(loss) per share as there were no potential dilutive
ordinary shares in existences during the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend to shareholders of the Company for the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

18.

ZMEEESRELSERN, (B8)
TAREA AT HEE AEHRETN (6
18) #98,887,0008 T (B =4 :
E518499,514,0008 1) R EBITEE
&% N #ESE£5242,000,000,0008% 51 8 ©

HRBE_T _NER-_T "=
ZA=t—HLEFEIEEMEE
BEEHTEER AERETEFN
/(BB BEsREAEF (B8 8
EB

HQ l%\
EEEFERRAARAREIRTE
EZZIMNERZIZEZI=ZF=A
—+—HIEFENERBERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tR e M SRR MGE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

19. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 19. MERRE
Furniture and Leasehold Motor
equipment improvement vehicles Total
Gkl HEYERE AE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET
Cost D
At 1 April 2022 A2 _EMA—H 3,084 3,669 6,198 12,951
Additions RE 56 - - 56
Written off b | (259) - - (259)
At 31 March 2023 and R_E_=F=B=+—-HK
1 April 2023 B ZHENBE—H 2,881 3,669 6,198 12,748
Additions V=t 17 9 - 26
Written off b= - (52) - (52)
At 31 March 2024 RZE_ME=B=+—H 2,898 3,626 6,198 12,722
Accumulated depreciation RitiE
At 1 April 2022 RIEZ-FNHE—H 2,756 2,192 723 5,671
Provided for the year FNEHE 115 412 1,239 1,766
Impairment loss HEEBE (253) - - (253)
At 31 March 2023 and WZE_Z&#=ZA=1t—-HK
1 April 2023 _E_-FEMA—H 2,618 2,604 1,962 7,184
Provided for the year FRN5TiE 97 414 1,239 1,750
Written off b= - (52) - (52)
At 31 March 2024 “ZIME=A=+—H 2,715 2,966 3,201 8,882
Carrying amount fREE
At 31 March 2024 RZE-_ME=A=+—H 183 660 2,997 3,840
At 31 March 2023 RIE-=F=A=+—H 263 1,065 4,236 5,564

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable
amount of its plant and equipment in 2024 as a result
of the deterioration of the markets of the Group’s
services. The recoverable amount of the relevant
assets of HK$3,840,000 (2023: HK$5,564,000) has
been determined on the basis of their value in use
using discounted cash flow method (level 3 fair value
measurements). The discount rate used was 12 per cent
(2023: 12 per cent).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kr e M IRRMGE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

20.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

20. EFAHEEE

Disclosures of lease—related items: AEEEEERENT
2024 2023
ZTINE ZE2T=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
At 31 March: R=ZB=+—08":
Right-of-use assets ERAESE
- Land and buildings — T g 7,11 1,418
— Office equipment — MR 35 46
7,146 1,464
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted AEBEHESENEBHD N
cash flows, of the Group’s lease liabilities is as (EREAMBRREERE)
follows: W
— Less than 1 year — 1T 2,540 2,766
- Between 1 and 2 years —1E20F 2,529 242
- Between 2 and 5 years —2FE5F 2,750 27
7,819 3,035
2024 2023
ZTOE —E2°=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Year ended 31 March: BE=RA=1+—HLFE:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FRAEEENITERS
- Land and buildings —t+ MR EF 1,475 1,309
— Office equipment — AR 11 9
1,486 1,318
Expenses related to short-term leases BT HRH E AR X - 1,958
Lease interest expenses MEMNEMZ 129 153
Total cash outflow for leases MENIRERELRE 2,766 A7)
Additions to right-of-use assets NEEREEE 7,496 55

“ETMEER . SHERMERGRAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

21.

The Group leases land and buildings and office
equipment. Lease agreements are typically made for fixed
period of 1 — 5 years (2023: 1 — 5 years). Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions.

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable
amount of its right-of-use assets in 2024 as a result
of the deterioration of the markets of the Group’s
services. The recoverable amount of the relevant
assets of HK$7,146,000 (2023: HK$1,464,000) has
been determined on the basis of their value in use
using discounted cash flow method (level 3 fair value
measurements). The discount rate used was 12 per cent
(2023: 12 per cent).

DEPOSITS PLACED WITH STOCK
EXCHANGE AND CLEARING HOUSE

20. FHEEE &

21.

AEBREL M ARIEFTURBAR
B HEMENE TR —RA1E5
F(CEZ=F 1555 - HEKZ
THERER B8 LB EER I
o

HRAEBIRERBAEZTIZE
2 AEBCERETCREREERC
ETNEZOWEEEE HEAEEZ
Pl [E 4 587,146,000 T (B2 =
& 11,464,000 T) FAIRIIRE
MEF (BZRAFEF2) UiRE
HEABEETC FIFEAZHIRES
12% (ZEZ=4F :112%) °

FHNESF R B R &G EFR
HiRE

2024 2023

—EBEImgE —EF2=F

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Deposits with Hong Kong Stock Exchange BRI PIRE 300 300

Stamp duty with Hong Kong Stock Exchange B A PRENIER 5 30
Deposits with Hong Kong Securities Clearing EARAPREEEFREAT

Company Limited: e

Admission fee Z2HE 150 150

Guarantee fund ReE & 150 150

605 630

Details of impairment assessment of deposits placed with
Stock Exchange and clearing house for the year ended
31 March 2024 and 2023 are set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kr e M IRRMGE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

22. LOAN RECEIVABLES 22. BRIWEM
2024 2023
TEONE —FT=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Loan receivables FEW B 2,199 1,461
Provision for loss allowance BB ETHE (128) (128)
2,071 1,333
Loan receivables are denominated in Hong Kong dollars EWERUBTHE FAEXER
with interest rate of 2.75% — 48% per annum. The 2. 75%:.:48% HAR A1 ESEMERN
loan amount with 1 — 5 years period term was lent to SHEEETFT LB UE=F 4~5£H
an independent third party. The directors of the Group EFE2THEXABERNGEE BYE
monitored the collectability of the loan receivables closely REWERN UL M - REBE TR
with reference to their respective current creditworthiness. BERERARE NHENRHRE T
The Group has policy for impairment allowance which B RE BB 8ES
is based on the evaluation of collectability of accounts XERPNREEE - IERRARBFIHRE
and on management’s judgment, including the current 50K
creditworthiness, collaterals and the past collection history
of each client.
The maturity profile of loan receivables net of allowance R EHR > RESHEHH TR
at the end of reporting period, analysed by the remaining HARR 2 W E R GOBREE) /Y ¢|
period to the contractual maturity date is as follows: AR
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Within one year —FR 2,071 317
In the second year — five years ME—RERN - 1,016
2,071 1,333
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

22. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

Reconciliation of loss allowance for loan receivables:

22. EIRE =
FEUR ES SR S 1R B B 1 BE

(&)

2024 2023
“EONFE DT =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At the beginning and ending of IR &5 HAR) R BR R
the reporting period 128 128

HE-T-_MER-_T_=#=8
=+t —HIEFEREERBREES
HBEH BN iR G B IR R MIBES ©

Details of impairment assessment of loan receivables for
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 are set out in
Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES 23. FEURARTR
Accounts receivable arising from the business of dealing in BEHERPEBEENEBUERT :
securities:
2024 2023
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Accounts receivable arising from the business of 5% 57 ¥ ELEMN
dealing in securities: FEUBR R -
— Clearing house —EEFT 9,614 -
— Cash clients Y= 375 1,597
— Margin clients —REEER 24,464 60,790
Accounts receivable arising from loan financing BB E E 4 EURR 14,376 17,183
Accounts receivable arising from HERMEELRN
supply chain financing & W BR TR 115,150 38,994
163,979 118,564
Provision for loss allowance B ETHIR (11,513) (9,682)

152,466 108,882
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HE_ZE_INF=B=+—HLIFE

23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Accounts receivable from clearing house and cash clients
represent trades pending settlement arising from business
of dealing in securities which are normally due within
two trading days after the trade date. All accounts
receivable from clearing house and cash clients are
included in “neither past due nor impaired” category. The
management believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of these balances as the balances are
considered fully recoverable.

Accounts receivable from margin clients are recoverable
on demand or according to agreed repayment schedules,
and bearing interest at rates ranged from 5.38% to
48.00% as at 31 March 2024 (2023: 5.38% to 48.00%).
The credit facility limits to margin clients are determined
by the discounted market value of the collateral securities
accepted by the Group. The Group maintains a list of
approved stocks for margin lending at a specified loan-
to-collateral ratio. A margin call may occur when the
balances of the accounts receivable from margin clients
exceed the permitted margin loan limit, or when the
discounted market value of the collateral security is less
than the balances of the accounts receivable from margin
clients.

Accounts receivable from margin clients as at 31
March 2024 and 2023 were secured by securities
or debt instrument, which were pledged to Gaoyu
Securities Limited (Formerly known as Pacific Foundation
Securities Limited)("GSL"), the Company’s subsidiary,
as collaterals. The securities had a fair value of
approximately HK$165,613,000 as at 31 March 2024
(2023: approximately HK$473,907,000). The Group is not
prohibited to sell the collaterals upon customers’ default
or repledge the collaterals upon receiving customers’
authorisation.

23.

FEURBRTR (&
R E SR B0 2 0 MR

EREBHFXSEFHEFTEER
7> —mRRXZHEMERSBANE

RN -FRAERBEEMRRERR
BYFE WL BR AR Z A TR B HA 78 R R {E
DE-EEERD ANZFERK
RAR U2 WL WBEARZSE
BRET IR AE R

KEREBEELNEWRERNEX
RIBREBEMBEEAFB R
BN _E_NFE=ZB=+—H#%
N F5.38%F48.00% (ZE_=4F:
538%i&um%)M%J[#%oﬂﬁ
BEEFNEEMNERBENIELRE
EESHNIEHERAVMBIETERE
EoREBRE—MDBARMGBE
DI E BRI LR 4E T 1REE

{E.Tmszaf% EE R PRI ﬁﬂ
EREREENREEENRRER
FERFERGRMETELR KR
1% e E O EWER A BREF > B ]
BERE SSRGS B ©

N ZEAFERZIZEI=ZF=A
=+—H RERISFLNEIE
HUBHNEHR T ERT fEARK
NEMB AT SRESBRAE (B
BAFEEEIDSHEBREAR) (TGSLY)
ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%oé:%:mﬁ_ﬁ

_+ E u/<—_ru4 //:\\:FTE /]%
165,613,0008 70 (CE - =5 | &
473,907,000/ 7T) c KEEKRAER

IERERERRER L ERT RN
RERRERBIRPE MR-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR RMGE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. FEURERFR (&

As at 31 March 2024, the Group held securities and
debt instrument as collaterals over these balances. As at
31 March 2024, 100% (2023: 100%) of the accounts
receivable from margin clients were secured by sufficient
collaterals on an individual basis. The management of
the Group has assessed the market value of the pledged
securities of each individual customer as at the end of
each reporting period and considered that no impairment
allowance is necessary taking into consideration of
client’s credit quality, collaterals provided and subsequent
repayment of monies. Except as described above, all
accounts receivable from margin clients are included in
“neither past due nor impaired” category.

As at 31 March 2024, accounts receivable from margin
clients include accounts receivable from directors of
the Company of approximately HK$886,000 (2023:
HK$692,000).

Except for the ageing of accounts receivable from margin
clients which are past due but not impaired, no ageing
analysis is disclosed for accounts receivable arising from
the business of dealing in securities as, in the opinion of
directors of the Company, the ageing analysis does not
give additional value in view of the nature of broking
business.

Accounts receivable arising from loan financing are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars with interest rate
of 8% (2023:8%) per annum. The loan amount with 5
months period term was lent to an independent third
party and secured by the underlying listed shares and
personal guarantee provided by the shareholder of the
borrower. Before approving any loan to its clients in the
business of securities dealing and brokerage services, the
Group has assessed the potential client’s credit quality and
defined credit limits individually. The Group has policy for
impairment allowance which is based on the evaluation of
collectability of accounts and on management’s judgment,
including the current creditworthiness, collaterals and the
past collection history of each client.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The loan financing was defaulted in early 2020, GSL has
been taking legal actions against the borrower and the
guarantor. The pledged shares were not deposited in the
securities account of the borrower with GSL at the time of
loan drawn down until the court granted an order to force
sell the pledged shares in July 2023. In August 2023,
the pledged shares were transferred to the borrower’s
securities account with GSL. GSL could then start
disposing the pledged shares to recover the loan position.

Given the pledged shares have been trading on HKEX,
market prices of the pledged shares were therefore used
as the benchmarks for estimating the loss allowance.
The recoverability of the loan is obviously related to the
market value of the underlying collaterals.

Reconciliation of loss allowance for accounts receivable
arising from loan financing

23. FEUWRERSR (&

ZERMER_Z_ZF¥EN
GSL—EHMEMAKRERARKBUE
7178 - ERINEME  WIFR D I
REAERARGSLNEZSFRAH
EERR S I=FtABE<REH
LEEBRG - R_BE_=FEN\A"
EIRRMNBABRARGSLHE SR
P o BE®GSLT 7] f#h & IR Az 10
IPREIS B EER

HRERRN —EREBRZAR
5 WL IR R BT BB A
R ETE IR AR EE - BB AT X
OB AR RN IS EE
EE

REERMBENBUW RS IEEE
HiR

2024 2023
CEINE T _=F
HK$°000  HK$'000

FAET FAET
At the beginning of the Reporting Period 1R &5 HARE 4T 9,682 7,360
Increase in loss allowance for the year FENEIEEEIE 1,831 2,322
At the ending of the Reporting Period RERSHBER 11,513 9,682

Accounts receivable arising from supply chain financing
are denominated in US dollars with interest rate of 1.2%
per months. The loan amount with 90 days period term
and secured by the inventories stored in a warehouse,
which are controlled by the Chance Wise Holding
Limited (“Chance Wise”), the Company's subsidiary,
as collaterals. The Group is not prohibited to sell the
collaterals upon customers’ default.

HEEREEENBBRMIUETT
SHE FIEREH1.2% iR 790K
NEREBU—BEE#ENEES
B EABRRD R AFWE R
BIHFAZERABRAT (M) Z60
AEBREBRIENREREXRNRIEA
Fy R dm o

—ENFEFR . SHEHEEFRAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #HEZZE

23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

“ME=RA=+—HLFE

23. FEURERER =

Before approving any loan to its clients in supply chain
financing, the Group has assessed the potential client's
credit quality and defined credit limits individually. The
Group has policy for impairment allowance which is
based on the evaluation of collectability of accounts
and on management’s judgment, including the current
creditworthiness, collaterals and the past collection history
of each client.

As at 31 March 2024, the management of the Group has
assessed the current creditworthiness, collaterals and the
past collection history of each client of each individual
debtor and no impairment allowance is necessary taking
into consideration. All accounts receivable from supply
chain financing are included in “neither past due nor
impaired” category.

Subsequent to date of report, all the accounts receivable
arising from supply chain financing were fully settled.

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS
9 to provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime
expected loss provision for all accounts receivable. To
measure the expected credit losses, accounts receivables

ARHEEMENTRAMEEAE
A AEBETHBEERNGEE
BR UAEENEERE mEE
MR ERERAHER ZBERTVER
HERETWEMHENTEAREEREN
HE BREEFPNREEE VIRE
fa KB U E] 52 B o

RIZEZME=ZRB=+—QH'+&H
EEEEAGEEARBAZER
NIRFREE  RR R RBEWEE
B SRR BRFERERE -FREHE
RS E LR BBERMRIIA TR AT
TRABAEI D4R

RS B (R RE A RIFR
BERVGRRETFURHEE -

AERRAERMBRSENFIN
B TBEH A A E S BB
REE > WL A BUBERRR A 2 51
RHEEER ST ERREES

have been grouped based on shared credit risk

B BUYSRREBREXFEER

RS,

characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit BB RE D #H - FTEHAE BB
losses also incorporate forward looking information. BIERIEMER o
Over Over Over
30 days 60 days 120 days
Current  pastdue  pastdue  past due Total
ki bkl bk
BPE  BiB30X  #iBe0X iBif120% Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 31 March 2024 RIE-ME
=B=+-H
Weighted average expected MEFERHEER
loss rate 0% 0% 0% 80%
Accounts receivables (HK$'000)  FEUERR (F#7T) 149,603 - - 14,376 163,979
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BREEE (TET) - - - 11,513 11,513
At 31 March 2023 RIEIZfF
=A=+—H
Weighted average expected loss rate I FHEEHFRER 0% 0% 0% 56%
Accounts receivables (HK$'000) MR (T8 7T) 101,381 - - 17,183 118,564
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BERE (TED - - - 9,682 9,682
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

24. RENTAL AND UTILITY DEPOSITS 24. TAERKEEEHS

25.

26.

2024 2023
TEONE —FT=F
HK$°000  HK$'000

FAET FAET

Rental deposits MEeZs 778 778
Utility deposits KEEHE 140 50
918 828

INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 25. M AFEGTAERZIEE
PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023
—EImFE —2T =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Equity securities, at fair value REBLHRATEFE
Listed in Hong Kong Z A5 13,842 7,962
DUE FROM NON-CONTROLLING 26. FEUNIEIEAGRG R FRIA
SHAREHOLDERS
The amounts due from non-controlling shareholder are FEWIEER R RIEARIEH > 28
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed repayment et [E] TE B R HA o
terms.

“ETMEER . SHERMERGRAE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

27.

28.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Bank balances represent demand deposits at bank which
bear interest at the prevailing market rates.

The Group maintains segregated bank accounts to
hold customers’ deposits arising from normal business
transactions. The Group has recognised the corresponding
amount in accounts payable. The cash held on behalf of
customers is restricted and governed by the Securities
and Futures (Client Money) Rules under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance.

Segregated accounts

From the Group's ordinary business in provision of
securities brokerage and related services, the Group
receives and holds money deposited by clients in the
course of the conduct of the regulated activities.
These clients’” monies are maintained in segregated
bank accounts at market interest rates. The Group has
recognised the corresponding accounts payables to
respective clients. At 31 March 2024, the segregated
accounts with authorised institutions in securities relation
to its brokerage business totaled HK$35,669,000 (2023:
HK$32,212,000).

House accounts

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group
and bank deposits at variable interest rate with original
maturity of three months or less.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLES

27. HERBITHEER

IRITHEBERRTHENRFEN
IRITRHATERR °

AEBRFABIURTRL UREE
FRE—MREZBIXZNEFR - EE
RENRRESEREE - REFF
BEZREXTEFFRPEHRGIAETE
FREIE (BRIE) KA RS K&

RE e

BilRR

B A BIZHE S KL BRI RS
MEEERED  AEBRDNKFE
BERARNETSRETHIMERR
e ZERPMBEEHRNBIIRITR
B HmiBHEAtE - AEBEHE
RELTAEEZANAEERR R
ENE=ZA=+—H SEEALER
MR EEE S BB IINEIERS
484 %8 435,669,0008 T (ZE =
£ 132,212,000 7T) ©

YNSESS

RERBTEGREERERMRFR
TREFHFERGFBRRIPER=
BRI TRIRITEM

28. FE{TER®X

2024 2023
“EINFE T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET

Accounts payable arising from the business of BERDEBEEN

dealing in securities: FE{TERRR -

— Clearing house — B - 2,544
— Cash clients —ReEER 35,061 31,155
— Margin clients —REEER 2,654 2,081
37,715 35,780
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28.

29.

sR e M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

ACCOUNTS PAYABLES (Continued)

Accounts payable to clearing house represent trades
pending settlement arising from business of dealing in
securities which are normally due within two trading days
after the trade date.

The accounts payable to cash clients and margin clients
are repayable on demand except where certain balances
represent trades pending settlement or deposits received
from clients for their trading activities under the normal
course of business. Only the amounts in excess of the
required deposits are repayable on demand.

Accounts payable to cash clients include amounts payable
to directors of the Company of approximately HK$1,000
as at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$50,000).

Accounts payable arising from the business of dealing
in securities are interest-bearing, except for amounts
representing pending trades payable to the clearing
house, cash clients and margin clients.

No ageing analysis is disclosed for accounts payable
arising from the business of dealing in securities as, in the
opinion of directors of the Company, the ageing analysis
does not give additional value in view of the nature of
broking business.

DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY

The advances are denominated in US$, unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed repayment terms.

28.

29.

FE(TBRTR (@)

A EEFRRIEREBERF ¥
BOMSEERS —RIRZZ A%
MB35 B PR HAFE (T o

BNREERPRFERZEE P RNA
RERER HRFEERSHNE
EEBBETRRZEHAER K
W REE 2 E TR A8
HPTERETREN TR AL ER

BB

AR _NE=R=+—H BENH
TERPRMNEBIEENEARBIEENR
IH%91,0005 75 (Z=E =4 : 50,000
BT °

BHERPEFELENRNERRS
B WENEE REeEE P RIFRE
EEFBHEFEERZRIERI

HRARBEEDRMELERLE
BmE RO EAMERE
I ERBEESRZEBELNE
T ERRRBVBRES D AT o

FEAY — I RR Bk 2 B 7RI
BRUETEHE BIRT > RE R
EEEEER-
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

30. H A RIERETEH

2024 2023
TEONE —T=F
HK$°000  HK$'000

FAET FET

Accruals FEstE R 1,096 731
Dividends payables FETRZ 2 81 76
Other payables H A FE I 246 2,071
1,423 2,878

31. LEASE LIABILITIES

31. HE &R

Present value of minimum

Minimum lease payments lease payments
RIEBEMT REBEMHRAE
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEZME ZRI=HE “EIME “EC-E
HKS$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
Within one year —&ER 2,540 2,766 2,184 2,705
Over one year but within five years —FL LEBRER 5,279 269 4,960 265
7,819 3,035 7,144 2,970
Less: Future finance charges A RRHEER (675) (65) - -
Present value of lease obligations ~ FAE&ERE 7,144 2,970 7,144 2,970
Less: Amount due for settlement 8 : 128 R
within 12 months AR EEE GIRR
(shown under current liabilities) HafEET) (2,184) (2,705)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 5 &L
12 months Eac| 4,960 265
At 31 March 2024, the average effective borrowing rate AT ME=ZB=+—H>FHE
was 5% — 5.75% (2023: 3.48% - 5%). Interest rates are BREBFENFS%EST75% (ZF
fixed at the contract dates and thus expose the Group to T=%F 13.48%%E5%)  FEREHN

fair value interest rate risk.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. &4
Number of
ordinary
shares Amount
EERHA &%
‘000 HK$'000
Fie FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 SREE.01EBT (TE =
(2023: HK$0.01) each 0.01787T) NE B
Authorised: VETE -
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, RIEZZFMB—H -ZZ2Z=
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —B=+—HB-ZZZ=
ME—HKE_-_ZE_M4F
=A=+—H 8,000,000 80,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE -
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, N ZEZHFOA—H-ZEZ=%F
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —B=t—H-ZZ2Z=%
WE—HKR_-_ZE_MFE
=A=+—H 2,000,000 20,000

Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be
able to continue as a going concern while maximising
the return to shareholders through the optimisation of
the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged during the reporting periods.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company.

GSL is registered with the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Commission (“SFC") for the business in which
it operates and is subject to liquid capital requirements
under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Financial
Resources) Rules (“SF(FR)R”). Under the SF(FR)R, it is
required to maintain liquid capital in excess of HK$3
million or 5% of the total adjusted liabilities, whichever is
higher. GSL had complied with the capital requirements
imposed by the SF(FR)R throughout the reporting periods.

Other than GSL, the Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements.

HAEE

A BB HE A - WRREGLUS
EEE > BRTERELEER RN
B EREERBAL  AEED
BRI RS AR R o

AEBZEAGEREERERES
FEYURKTABER AL

GSIRNEBAB S RIPEEFEREZS
g (BEY)) BAKRENER A
BFEBRESMPE (THER R
(TSRS (MBER) R B
TZRBEEHRTE RIBFFSFSKIPE
(FHER) RAU SHREWNBAE]
BT ERENE £ 13,000,000
THEEHABREEBRE % (UK
BEAE) cGSLNIREHAN—HEST
BHEAPE (MHER RAEMZ
BAREXo

PRGSLSN » REE B RE T ERIINR
MMz EREK-

—ENFEFR . SHEHEEFRAE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 32. g7 (&)

Gearing ratio

The management of the Group reviews the capital
structure on an ongoing basis. As part of this review, the
management of the Group considers the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital.

The gearing ratio at the end of each reporting periods are

BEE&RLEX
FEREEBFEBENERGEHE F
mEBERHN -8 ~EEEEE
EZREAMARBRBEAFR
JER B2

RERSHRNEESRLERNT

as follows:

2024 2023
“EME ZTT=F
Notes HKS$000 HK$'000
Viok=3 FET FAET
Debts B% (a) 35,532 14,692
Equity #Em (b) 153,895 143,805
Debt to equity ratio EBEERIEE 23.1% 10.2%

Notes: B 5

(@) Debts represent due to a related company and lease
liabilities as set out in Note 29 and Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(b)  Equity includes all capital and reserves.

Gaoyu Finance Group Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 33. AT FEIR AT
THE COMPANY

2024 2023

“EONFE —FT=F

Notes  HK$'000  HK$'000
et TET 7T

Non-current assets ERBEE
Property and equipment EYSE g 150 200
Investments in a subsidiary R—ENB AR ZRE 78 78
228 278
Current assets WENEE
Prepayments FEIFRIE 1,156 999
Amounts due from subsidiaries AN PN E ] 54,763 56,304
Bank balances IR1T4EER 60 1,449
55,979 58,752
Current liabilities mENEE
Other payables and accruals Hh eI R Bt & B 573 236
Net current assets mEEERE 55,406 58,516
Net assets BERE 55,634 58,794
Equity W
Share capital f& 7 32 20,000 20,000
Reserves i 34 35,634 38,794
TOTAL EQUITY R AREE 55,634 58,794
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of EFEgR 2 2OFEABEZ+—H
Directors on 21 June 2024 and signed on its behalf by: HOERIRET S MR T ESEAR
BEFgsE.
Fok Yuk Tong Hsieh Ching Chun
EXE B
Director Director
o o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

34. RESERVES

(a)

Share premium

Share premium is the net amount of (i) excess of
the proceeds received over the nominal value of the
shares of the Company issued at a premium, less
expenses incurred in connection with the issue of
the shares; and (ii) capitalisation issue of shares.

(a)

34. {#E

Bz {n i@ E
RPEED)ERBRD G
BETREWFISIE (O
TTRMFFELERXR BRME
BENELE; RIDKBRHDEARLE
T2 38

(b) Other reserves (b) EHfthf#
Other reserves represent (i) deemed capital HMEEREOBEEZZ—F
contribution of approximately HK$3,640,000 from —A=+—HILFEHE—H
Mr. Lo Tak Wing Benson arising from the disposal WBARFMELENERIERS
of a subsidiary during the year ended 31 March BB ENFEL3,640,000
2016; and (i) the amount due to Mr. Lo Tak Wing BT, RMINBE_E—tFE=
Benson of approximately HK$6,122,000 which was B=+—HLEEERFEER
capitalised during the year ended 31 March 2017. {EN M EER A EREBELY
6,122,000 73 ©
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KRBEEBREZENT
Accumulated
Share premium losses Total
17 a8 B5tEHE Bt
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2022 A S "EE—H 48,229 (4,629) 43,600
Loss and total comprehensive loss FHNEEREZEBEEE
for the year - (4,806) (4,806)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 QS
“B=+—-Hk
_E_=FB—H 48,229 (9,435) 38,794
Loss and total comprehensive loss FRBEERZEBEEE
for the year - (3,160) (3,160)
At 31 March 2024 RZ2ZME
=A=+—H 48,229 (12,595) 35,634
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

35. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 35. RtE EBIFhEL B EHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

36.

The following table shows the Group’s changes in

TRINENAFEAEBRERED

liabilities arising from financing activities during the year: BEENGEEE .
Due to a
related company Lease liabilities Total
e —F
) NG HEaR Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 31 March 2022 RZE__#&
=A=+—-H - 5,525 5,525
Changes in cash flows ReERELEEH 11,700 (2,763) 8,937
Non-cash changes FREEH
— interest charged —BIEH B 22 153 175
— additions of lease liabilities —THEaEEM - 55 55
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RIEZ=F
ZA=+-Hk
_E--FWA—H 11,722 2,970 14,692
Changes in cash flows HERELT) 16,666 (2,766) 13,900
Non-cash changes EREE
— interest charged —BEFIE - 129 129
- additions of lease liabilities —HE&REM - 6,811 6,811
At 31 March 2024 RZ2ZME
=A=+—-H 28,388 7,144 35,532
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. FAMK S X5
During the year, the Group entered into the following REERFRNEMBAB A ETUTR
transactions with related parties: 2 .
2024 2023
—ENE T =F
HK$°000 HK$°000
FAET FET
Commission income from securities dealing BUWHEKKBEHXTZ R
and brokerage services received or KRB UWA
receivable from:
Directors of the Company KRABIESR 22 14
Interest income from margin financing BWEEKRREFEEME
received or receivable from: HFBUWA :
Directors of the Company KABESR 40 103
Expenses related to short-term leases EXEEHES
paid to: BRMNMBAX :
Entity controlled by a director of the Company ~ S AATEHITHINEEE - 1,958

—ENFEFR . SHEHEEFRAE

131



132

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sRE M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The balances with related parties have been disclosed in
Notes 23 and 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Compensation of key management personnel

Key management includes directors and senior
management of the Group. The remuneration of key
management, including directors as disclosed in Note 15
to the consolidated financial statement, are as follows:

36. FABt AR H @)
REMANESREN SN EERE
Miz¥23 K228 BE o

FEEEASHRM

TEEEEORAEREEERER
EEE -TEEEEHN (BiEKS
M| ARWEISPARENES) U
T

2024 2023

“EME ZTT=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RN REYER 3,813 4,251
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R ARER) 5T B =R 99 90
3,912 4,341

The remuneration of senior management who are not the
directors of the Company whose emoluments fell within
the following band:

W IEAR R B EF B S R E EE *r B
ITFLUTEE -

Number of individuals
B8 AZ

2024 2023

—E-mE —E-=4F

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

£ 21,000,000 7T 2 2
1,000,001 BT E

1,500,000 7T - 1

37. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The Group offsets the following financial assets and
financial liabilities since it currently has a legally
enforceable right to set off the balances, and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the balances
simultaneously.

Under the agreement signed between the Group and the
selected customers, money obligations receivable and
payable with the same customers on the same settlement
date are settled on net basis.

Gaoyu Finance Group Limited « ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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37.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Under the continuous net settlement, money obligations
receivable and payable with Hong Kong Securities
Clearing Company Limited and other brokers on the same
settlement date are settled on a net basis.

Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to
offsetting

The gross amounts of the recognised financial assets and
financial liabilities and their net amounts as presented in
the consolidated statement of financial position are as
follows:

As at 31 March 2024

37. RHEMEEREMER

(&)

REFEPREE BEBRRE
BRR B REMEL AR E WK
BURREA—EEALIREEE -

AFiRENEREERERER

EHEITHEERERAAEMBERK
MREMBRRRENRFERLT ¢

RZZE_WNE=A=+—H

Gross Related

amounts of Net amounts amounts not
recognised  of financial set off in the
financial assets consolidated
liabilities ~ presented  statement

Gross set off in the inthe of financial
amounts of consolidated consolidated position
recognised  statement  statement Financial
financial ~ of financial ~ of financial collateral
assets position position received Net amount
KRERE
RiRamE MBRAR
HiR& N g 1:)
WA MBURER  HEREE
EAER  EDER  EINEH BIKEM
BEAE afilE EERE  RERSR R
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Type of financial assets SHMEERL
Deposits placed with stock exchange BFRRES AR
and clearing house GEMNER 605 - 605 - 605
Accounts receivables arising from the  BHEXREBELEN
business of dealing in securities: FEURERS -
- Clearing house — B 23,455 (13,841) 9,614 = 9,614
~ Cash dlients -REER 375 - 375 - 375
- Margin clients -RETER 24,464 - 24,464 (24,464) -

—ENFEFR . SHEHEEFRAE

133



134

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sRE M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

37. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to

offsetting (Continued)
As at 31 March 2024 (Continued)

37. IRHEMEEREMERE

6

AFRENEREEREMER

6

RZE_NMFE=A=+—H8 (&

Gross Related

amounts of Net amounts amounts not

recognised  of financial set off in the

financial liabilities consolidated

assets  presented  statement

Gross set off in the inthe of financial

amounts of consolidated consolidated position

recognised  statement  statement Financial

financial ~ of financial  of financial collateral
liabilities position position received Net amount

KRERE

N BHERRR

BERRR N it 1)

W MBRRR RS

BER @ BIER  EINER  BRERW
BERE EEAE ARRE  SREFS 28
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET

Type of financial liabilities THEREEY
Accounts payables arising from the BAHXBEBELN
business of dealing in securities: FERIEREN

- Clearing house — BB 13,841 (13,841) - - -
- Cash clients -HEER 35,061 - 35,061 - 35,061
- Margin clients -REEER 2,654 - 2,654 - 2,654
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kr e M IRRMGE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

37. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 37. IR EMEBEEREMEHE
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued) #&
Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to AIFIRENEMEEREMEAE
offsetting (Continued) (&
As at 31 March 2023 N ZE=F=RB=+—H
Gross Related

amounts of Net amounts ~ amounts not
recognised  of financial ~ set off in the

financial assets  consolidated

liabilities ~ presented  statement

Gross  set off in the inthe  of financial

amounts of  consolidated  consolidated position

recognised  statement  statement Financial

financial  of financial  of financial collateral
assets position position received  Net amount

N MBI

BB RixgE izl

BB MEARE  EEEER

i sl 2INEH  BREW
BERR &RERE BEFR RERs et
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000
TET &7 T FET FET

Type of financial assets SHMBEERY
Deposits placed with stock exchange ~ FHRBHR BT K
and clearing house HEMNER 630 - 630 - 630
Accounts receivables arising from the ~ XL HEHELN
business of dealing in securities: FERERTN
- Clearing house — 8 1,722 (1,722) - - -
- Cash clients -RegR 1,791 (194) 1,597 - 1,597
- Margin clients —-RELER 60,860 (70) 60,790 (60,790) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR e M IRRMGE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

37. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 37. IR EMEEREME R
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued) (#
Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to AIFIRENEHNEEREMEAE
offsetting (Continued) (&
As at 31 March 2023 (Continued) N TETZFZA=+—H &)
Gross Related

amounts of Net amounts  amounts not
recognised  of financial ~ set off in the

financial liabilities  consolidated

assetsset  presented  statement

Gross off in the inthe  of financial

amounts of  consolidated  consolidated position

recognised  statement  statement Financial

financial  of financial  of financial collateral
liabilities position position received  Net amount

N BN

BB NG Ay

BB MEARER  EEERER

i sl 2INEH  BUEW
BRIER EBEER aRFR RERE et
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS$000 HK$000
FET & & FET FET

Type of financial liabilities tRarREY

Accounts payables arising from the ~ EHTHEHELN
business of dealing in securities: RN
- Clearing house — 8 4,266 (1,722) 2,544 - 2,544
- Cash clients -ReER 31,349 (194) 31,155 - 31,155
- Margin clients —fRiEEEP 2,151 (70) 2,081 - 2,081
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sRE M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

38. ZAFMBATIRFE

COMPANY
Equity attributable
Name of Place of Place of Date of Issued and to the Group  Principal
subsidiary incorporation operation incorporation paid up capital At 31 March activities
WEAEAHE M SR BaAAzE BETRARRE FEERERE IEBXH
R=A=+-H
2024 2023
ZECME ZF2CF
Direct
B#
PF Group Holdings Limited Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 11 October 2023 HK$10,000 100% N/A Investment holding
% % —§zz% 10000%7% TEE RELH
+A+-8
Dynamic Express Global ~ British Virgin -~ Hong Kong 1 June 2015 Us$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited Islands
LERYEE FA “E-RERA-B 1Em REER
Perfect Ten Holdings British Virgin -~ Hong Kong 15 January 2021 US$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited Islands
EERUEE B IEI-& 10,000% 7t REER
—B+4H
Indirect
3E3
Pacific Foundation Hong Kong HongKong 7 October 1993 HK$7 100% 100%  Investment holding
Holdings Limited
ATREERERAT FA &8 “ANZETAtR 7ERn REER
GSL Hong Kong Hong Kong 17 June 1987 HK$10,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of
(i) securities dealing
and brokerage services;
(ii) placing and
underwriting services;
(iil) financing services
including securities
and IPO margin
financing; and (iv) asset
management services
&h &h —hNEE 10,000,000 RENEFZREL
~ATtH R (IR ERBHR

B il BEEFRER
RERRFEEBEL
BERE RVEEE
Bk

—ENFEFR . SHEHEEFRAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sRE M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #&ZE_ZE_NFE=F=+—HILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Name of Place of Place of Date of
subsidiary incorporation operation incorporation
WEARLHE MM SR A

38. ZAFMBATRFE @

Equity attributable
Issued and to the Group Principal
paid up capital At 31 March activities
BEARMERET FEARGERE IERH
R=BA=+—-H
2024 2023

ZECME CTCE

Gaoyu Finance Limited ~ Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 15 November 2019
(Formerly known as PF
Finance Limited)

BHHBERAT &8 2 “T-hE
(RI7BPF Finance +-A+EH
Limited)
Jovial Victory British Virgin -~ Hong Kong 15 November 2021
Global Limited Islands
EERYEE BB Z3C-fF
+—RA+iA
Chance Wise HongKong ~ HongKong 15 November 2021
b &H ) ZZT-F
+-A+EH
Brothers Worldwide British Virgin -~ Hong Kong 27 September 2022
Company Limited Islands
SERYEE FA -3z
ABZ+tH
Big Win Worldwide British Virgin -~ Hong Kong 27 September 2022
Company Limited Islands
EREUHE BB “EICE
ABZ+tH
Excellence International ~ British Virgin -~ Hong Kong 27 September 2022
Company Limited Islands
EREUNE BB “EICE

NAZ+tH
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HK$1,000,000 100% 100%  Money lending services

1,000,000 HHEERS
US$5,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
5,000% 75 REER
HK$10,000 100% 100%  Supply chain services
10,0007 ISR
US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
50,000% 7T REZER
US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
50,000%7% REER
US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
50,0007t REZER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sR e M ERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #BE_ZE_NE=BF=+—HIFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

39.

COMPANY (Continued)

38. ZAFIMEBABIRFE @

Equity attributable
Name of Place of Place of Date of Issued and to the Group Principal
subsidiary incorporation operation incorporation paid up capital At 31 March activities
MEARLHE AMEIE EEME AR BEARMERET FEARGERE IERE
R=BA=+—-H
2024 2023
b 1 e S
UB Trust HongKong ~ HongKong 10 November 2022 HK$3,000,000 60% 60%  Investment holding
Company Limited
EREXARAT s B3 = 3,000,000 7T RERR
+-A+H
Gaoyu High Yield Income Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 18 December 2023 US$1 100% N/A~ Open-ended fund
Fund OFC
s 3 “E2ZETIR 1ER TER BErslEs
+/\H
Gaoyu Global Master HongKong ~ HongKong 18 December 2023 US$1 100% N/A~ Open-ended fund
Fund OFC
) ) “ECZE ESE TER BEslEs
+ZA+NH
Gaoyu Global HongKong ~ HongKong 25 March 2024 Us$1 100% N/A~ Open-ended fund
Infrastructure OFC
BB &8 “ZomE ESE TER BEilES
ZAZ+EH

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at

the end of the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result

in particulars of excessive lengths.

APPROVAL FOR CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 June

2024.

BMENBLABNERSETEMNR
Fraa sy o

ERAIEHNAERRNBARSE
ERRBAEREENEEENE
EXENNBAE -EFRA =_/H
HMWBABNFBEREREAN
ke

39. HL LGS HTEERER

REMBERENR_ZT_OFEARA
“t+—HHEFEHERRENE-

“ENFEFR . SHSREERRA
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

R FRBHEE

RESULTS E 3 |
For the year ended 31 March
BE-A=1+—HIEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E_FE "= _"_-_f "2 _ZB_TF
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FAET FET FEr FEr
Revenue Wz
Commission income from REFEFTH K
securities dealing and REZRBENEEWA
brokerage services 2,073 1,234 2,957 7,837 6,956
Fee and commission income KB ERDHTHH
from placing and KWERAEBA
underwriting activities 2,436 396 - 508 10,986
Interest income from margin -~ REREERERBE
and loan financing and UK BEEREN
money lending services FEWA 8,990 8,061 4,404 5,036 8,506
Supply chain financing HEHERE 8,430 2,024 - - -
Advisory fee incomes BREEWRA 312 1,920 - - -
Fee income from asset REEEEEREN
management services B A 440 - - 1,567 662
Others Hith 910 120 83 1,500 3,795
Total revenue Fall gy 23,591 13,755 7,444 16,448 30,905
Bank interest income RITH WA 690 384 171 256 346
Fair value change on BATESABGRZ
investment at fair value RENATEES
through profit or loss 6,704 232 - - -
Other gains Hithl s 1,942 1,735 2,313 2,379 739
32,927 16,106 9,928 19,083 31,990
Commission expenses meR% 417) (416) (1,246) (2,850) (8,717)
Depreciation expenses for MERFEN
property and equipment EMx (1,750) (1,766) (1,663) (250) (251)
Depreciation expenses for EREEEN
right-of-use assets ERX (1,486) (1,318) (3,146) (4,727) (3,545)
Staff costs BT A (7,317) (8,021) (8,601) (15,967) (15,023)
Other operating expenses Hi & (10,525) (8,594) (7,866) (11,220) (10,396)
Finance costs B L (129) (175) (176) (129) (274)
Exchange gain/(loss) BRWE (8518 144 (3,023) - - -
Impairment of assets BERE (1,831) (2,322) (12,021) - -
Profit/(loss) before tax BiganEF /(B8 9,616 (9,529) (24,791) (16,060) (6,216)
Income tax expense Fri3iRms (726) = - - -
Profit/(loss) for the year ENER/ (518 8,890 (9,529) (24,791) (16,060) (6,216)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
As at 31 March
R=B=+—-H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—gEINE "= "2 -F 2”4 _Z”%TF
HKS$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FEr FET
Total assets BEE 229,291 197,155 199,466 226,874 299,904
Total liabilities FEh= (75,396) (53,350) (46,132) (48,749) (55,752)
Net assets BEFE 153,895 143,805 153,334 178,125 244,152
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